

Mathematics, Physics, and Computer Science Faculty Articles and Research Science and Technology Faculty Articles and Research

6-11-2024

# Schur Analysis Over the Unit Spectral Ball

**Daniel Alpay** 

Ilwoo Choo

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.chapman.edu/scs\_articles

Part of the Algebra Commons

# Schur Analysis Over the Unit Spectral Ball

# Comments

This article was originally published in *Linear Algebra and Its Applications*, volume 698, in 2024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.laa.2024.05.023

# **Creative Commons License**



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial 4.0 License

Copyright The authors



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Linear Algebra and its Applications

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/laa

# Schur analysis over the unit spectral ball



LINEAR

lications

Daniel Alpay<sup>a,\*</sup>, Ilwoo Cho<sup>b</sup>

 <sup>a</sup> Schmid College of Science and Technology, Chapman University, One University Drive, Orange, CA 92866, USA
 <sup>b</sup> Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Saint Ambrose University, 508 W. Locust St., Davenport, IA 52803, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 February 2024 Accepted 31 May 2024 Available online 11 June 2024 Submitted by P. Semrl

MSC: primary 46E22 secondary 47B32

Keywords: Hardy space Schur multipliers De Branges-Rovnyak spaces Quaternions and split quaternions

#### ABSTRACT

We begin a study of Schur analysis when the variable is now a matrix rather than a complex number. We define the corresponding Hardy space, Schur multipliers and their realizations, and interpolation. Possible applications of the present work include matrices of quaternions, matrices of split quaternions, and other algebras of hypercomplex numbers.

© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	345
2.	Generalities and first examples	347
3.	The Hardy space	357
4.	Interpolation	368
5.	Schur multipliers	373
6.	Carathéodory multipliers	394
7.	Concluding remarks	400

\* Corresponding author. *E-mail addresses:* alpay@chapman.edu (D. Alpay), choilwoo@sau.edu (I. Cho).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.laa.2024.05.023

0024-3795  $\odot$  2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/).

Declaration of competing interest	402
Data availability	403
Acknowledgements	403
References	403

# 1. Introduction

The classical theory of Hilbert spaces of functions analytic in a neighborhood of the origin, i.e., with elements of the form

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n f_n \tag{1.1}$$

where the  $f_n \in \mathbb{C}$  satisfy

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \gamma_n |f_n|^2 < \infty \tag{1.2}$$

encompasses spaces such as the Hardy space, the Fock space, the Bergman space, and many others. In (1.2) the numbers  $\gamma_n$  (the weights) are strictly positive numbers such that

$$R = \sqrt{\liminf_{n \to \infty} \gamma_n^{1/n}} > 0$$

From

$$\left|\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n f_n\right|^2 \le \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|z|^{2n}}{\gamma_n}\right) \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \gamma_n |f_n|^2\right)$$

the functions are analytic for z such that

$$|z|^2 < \frac{1}{\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\gamma_n^{1/n}}} = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \gamma_n^{1/n} = R^2$$

 $(R = \infty$  is allowed; one then has a space of entire functions). Furthermore the corresponding reproducing kernel is

$$K(z,w) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n \overline{w}^n}{\gamma_n}.$$
(1.3)

One can also allow some of the weights  $\gamma_n$  to vanish, as for instance for the Dirichlet kernel

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$-\ln(1-z\overline{w}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^n \overline{w}^n}{n},$$

where z, w belong to the open unit disk  $\mathbb{D}$ . Then there is no constant term in the expansions (1.2) and (1.3).

The theory of such spaces can be extended to the case where the coefficients  $f_n$ , and possibly the weights  $\gamma_n$ , are matrices; see e.g., [4]. In the present paper we consider the case where, in (1.1), not only  $f_n$  but also z is replaced by a matrix. Thus we consider expressions of the form

$$F = F(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n \tag{1.4}$$

where  $Z \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  and the  $F_n \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ , or more generally belong to a Hilbert space which is also a right and left  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -module. When p = 1 it may be that (1.4) converges only for Z = z = 0. When p > 1, there are always non-zero nilpotent matrices and the set of convergence of (1.4) is not reduced to a point, but it does not contain necessarily an open set (i.e. may have an empty interior), as follows from Proposition 2.3 below. See Corollary 2.4.

Expressions of the form (1.4) are not closed under pointwise product, and following [42] we define on monomials  $Z^n A$  and  $Z^m B$  the convolution (or Cauchy; see [42]) product as follows: Let  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . One sets

$$(Z^n A) \star (Z^m B) = Z^{n+m} AB, \tag{1.5}$$

extended by linearity to the linear span of the monomials. This is called the Cauchy product and appears in various places in non-commutative settings; see [42] and, for the quaternionic setting, see [35] for slice functions and [56] for hypercomplex regular functions.

Among other related non-commutating settings let us mention for example the calculus on diagonals developed in [14,15] (see [53] for a predecessor to this calculus).

By specializing to subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  we obtain known cases such as the quaternions and the split quaternions, for p = 2 and Z, W of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} z_1 & -z_2\\ \overline{z_2} & \overline{z_1} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{pmatrix} z_1 & z_2\\ \overline{z_2} & \overline{z_1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.6)

respectively, and matrices of these for p even, say p = 2h ( $h \in \mathbb{N}$ ) and  $z_1$  and  $z_2$  being elements of  $\mathbb{C}^{h \times h}$  in (1.6). Bicomplex numbers will correspond to matrices of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} z_1 & -z_2 \\ z_2 & z_1 \end{pmatrix},$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We will freely use both notations F and F(Z).

and hyperbolic numbers correspond to the case where  $z_1$  and  $z_2$  are real in this latter expression. Here too, our approach allows to study matrices of bicomplex and hyperbolic numbers.

The paper consists of seven sections, of which this introduction is the first. In the second section we give first properties of the power series of the form (1.4), and examples such as the counterparts of the Fock space, the Hardy space, the Wiener algebra and rational functions in the present setting. In the third section we study in greater details the Hardy space. We discuss a version of the Beurling-Lax theorem in the present setting and discuss the notion of Blaschke factor here. In Section 4 we solve a Nevanlinna-Pick interpolation problem in the Hardy space. Schur multipliers and their coisometric realizations are studied in Section 5 using two approaches. The first uses the theory of linear isometry relations and the second is based on operator ranges. In particular we prove a version of Leech's factorization theorem, needed in the arguments. The notion of Carathéodory multipliers is studied in Section 6 with different methods; we reduce the problem to the case of a complex variable. In the last section we discuss various future directions of research and links with hypercomplex analysis.

Throughout the paper B(0, R) denotes the open unit disk in the complex plane centered at the origin, and with radius R. The spectral radius of the matrix  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  will be denoted by  $\rho(A)$ .

# 2. Generalities and first examples

# 2.1. Preliminary results

We first introduce:

**Definition 2.1.** Given R > 0, the ring  $\mathcal{H}_R$  consists of the power series of the form

$$F(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n, \quad where \ Z, F_0, F_1, \ldots \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$$
(2.1)

and the latter are such that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|F_n\|^{\frac{1}{n}} \le \frac{1}{R}.$$
(2.2)

Note that (2.1) converges for Z such that  $\rho(Z) < R$ .

**Proposition 2.2.** For any  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  with  $\rho(A) < R$ , the series

$$F(A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n F_n \tag{2.3}$$

converges absolutely.

**Proof.** We have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|A^n F_n\|^{\frac{1}{n}} \le \lim_{n \to \infty} \|A^n\|^{\frac{1}{n}} \cdot \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|F_n\|^{\frac{1}{n}} \le \frac{\rho(A)}{R} < 1,$$
(2.4)

and so the series with running term  $||A^n F_n||$  converges.  $\Box$ 

Proposition 2.3. In the above notation, assume

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|F_n\|^{\frac{1}{n}} = \infty.$$
(2.5)

Then, the set of convergence of (2.1) does not contain invertible matrices.

**Proof.** Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  be invertible. Then,

$$F_n = A^{-n} A^n F_n$$

and so

$$||F_n||^{1/n} \le ||A^{-n}||^{1/n} ||A^n F_n||^{1/n}$$

Since A is invertible, it holds that  $\lim ||A^{-n}||^{1/n} = \rho(A^{-1}) > 0$  and we have

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \|F_n\|^{1/n} = \infty \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|A^n F_n\|^{1/n} = \infty$$

and (2.3) cannot converge.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.4.** If (2.5) holds, the set where the power series converges has an empty interior.

**Proof.** This follows from the fact that the set of invertible matrices is dense and open in  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Remark 2.5.** When p > 1 besides the case where A is nilpotent, one has examples where  $AF_n = 0$  for all  $n \ge 1$ ; then  $F(A) = F_0$  exists even if (2.5) is in force.

**Proposition 2.6.** For any  $F, G \in \mathcal{H}_R$  and A with  $\rho(A) < R$ ,

$$(F+G)(A) = F(A) + G(A)$$
 and  $(F \star G)(A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n F(A) G_n,$  (2.6)

where  $G = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n G_n$  with  $G_0, G_1, \ldots \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  and where  $\star$  denotes the Cauchy product (1.5). In particular,  $(F \star G)(A) = 0$  whenever F(A) = 0.

**Proof.** We only prove the second claim. We have

$$F \star G = F \star \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n G_n\right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (F \star Z^n) G_n$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F G_n,$$

where the exchange of sum and  $\star$ -product is justified since

$$\|\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F G_n\| \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|F\| \cdot \|Z^n\| \cdot \|G_n\|,$$

and using  $\rho(Z) < R$  and (2.2) for G. This ends the proof since

$$(Z^n F G_n)(A) = A^n F(A) G_n. \quad \Box$$

**Definition 2.7.** Let R > 0 and let  $F(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n \in \mathcal{H}_R$ . We define

$$F(zI_p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n, \quad |z| < R.$$
 (2.7)

**Lemma 2.8.** Let  $F, G \in \mathcal{H}_R$ . It holds that

$$(F \star G)(zI_p) = F(zI_p)G(zI_p), \quad |z| < R.$$

$$(2.8)$$

**Proof.** We have

$$\begin{split} \left( \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n \right) \star \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n G_n \right) \right) (zI_p) &= \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \left( \sum_{k=0}^n F_k G_{n-k} \right) \right) (zI_p) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n \left( \sum_{k=0}^n F_k G_{n-k} \right) \\ &= \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n \right) \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n G_n \right) \\ &= F(zI_p) G(zI_p), \end{split}$$

where the various exchanges of sums hold since |z| < R.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 2.9.** Let R > 0 and let  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n \in \mathcal{H}_R$ . Let

$$F(zI_p) = (f_{ij}(z))_{i,j=1}^p$$

and let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  with spectrum inside B(0, R). Then,

$$F(A) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} (zI_p - A)^{-1} F(zI_p) dz$$
(2.9)

where  $\gamma$  is a closed Jordan curve inside B(0, R), and which encloses the spectrum of A. **Proof.** With  $F_n = (f_{ij}^{(n)})_{i,j=1}^p$ , and with

$$f_{ij}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n f_{ij}^{(n)},$$

we have

$$F(zI_p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n = (f_{ij}(z))_{i,j=1}^p.$$

With  $E_{ij}$ , i, j = 1, ..., p denoting the standard basis in  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  we further have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n F_n &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n \sum_{i,j=1}^p f_{ij}^{(n)} E_{ij} \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^p \left( \sum_{\substack{n=0\\f_{ij}(A)}}^{\infty} A^n f_{ij}^{(n)} \right) E_{ij} \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^p \left( \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} (zI_p - A)^{-1} f_{ij}(z) dz \right) E_{ij} dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} (zI_p - A)^{-1} \left( \sum_{i,j=1}^p f_{ij}(z) E_{ij} \right) dz \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} (zI_p - A)^{-1} F(zI_p) dz. \quad \Box \end{split}$$

**Theorem 2.10.** Assume that there is a summable positive measure  $\mu$  of the form

$$d\mu(z) = m(|z|)dxdy, \quad |r| < R$$

such that

$$2\pi \int_{0}^{R} r^{2n+1} m(r) dr = \gamma_n, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$
 (2.10)

Then for  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n$  such that (2.2) is in force, it holds that

$$\int_{|z| < R} (F(zI_p))^* F(zI_p) d\mu(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \gamma_n F_n^* F_n.$$
(2.11)

**Proof.** The power series F(Z), and in particular  $F(zI_p)$ , converges in |z| < R in view of (2.2). To check (2.11), let

$$f_N(z) = \sum_{n,m=0}^N F_n^* F_m \overline{z}^n z^m.$$

By Cauchy inequality, we have that, for  $|z| \le r < R$ ,

$$f_N(z)| \leq \sum_{n,m=0}^N |z|^n |z|^m ||F_n|| ||F_m||$$
$$= \left(\sum_{n=0}^N \frac{|z|^n}{\sqrt{\gamma_n}} \sqrt{\gamma_n} ||F_n||\right)^2$$
$$\leq \left(\sum_{n=0}^N \frac{|z|^{2n}}{\gamma_n}\right) \left(\sum_{n=0}^N \gamma_n ||F_n||^2\right)$$
$$\leq \left(\sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{r^{2n}}{\gamma_n}\right) \left(\sum_{n=0}^\infty \gamma_n ||F_n||^2\right)$$

Since r < R we have that  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{r^{2n}}{\gamma_n} < \infty$ , and we can apply the dominated convergence theorem since  $d\mu$  is assumed to be summable. We then obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{|z| < r} (F(zI_p))^* F(zI_p) d\mu(z) &= \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} F_n^* F_m \iint_{|z| < r} \overline{z}^n z^m d\mu(z) \\ &= \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} F_n^* F_m \int_{\rho=0}^r \int_{\theta=0}^{2\pi} \rho^{n+m} e^{i\theta(n-m)} m(\rho) \rho d\rho d\theta \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} F_n^* F_n \left( 2\pi \int_0^r \rho^{2n+1} m(\rho) d\rho \right) \end{split}$$

where the integrals are finite thanks to (2.10). The monotone convergence theorem allows to let r tend to R and obtain the result using here too (2.10).  $\Box$ 

**Remark 2.11.** The previous result can be adapted to other cases, such as Dirichlet, where derivatives appear, or to the case of the Hardy space. Another case where the previous result can be adapted is the time-varying setting as developed in [15,37]. Let

$$U = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{Z}^n D_n$$

where  $\mathcal{Z}$  is now the unitary shift from  $\ell_2(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{C})$  into itself and  $D_0, D_1, \ldots$  are diagonal operators. The Zadeh transform U(z) of U is

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n \mathcal{Z}^n D_n, \quad z \in \mathbb{C}$$
(2.12)

(see [5,6], and the unpublished manuscript [2]). Since for the unitary shift,  $Z^{*m} \mathcal{Z}^n = \mathcal{Z}^{n-m}$ , we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|z|=r} D_m^* \mathcal{Z}^{*m} \overline{z^m} z^n \mathcal{Z}^n D_n \frac{dz}{z} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } n \neq m, \\ r^{2n} D_n^* D_n & \text{if } n \neq m \end{cases}$$

we have, using the same methods as above, and with the same notations,

$$\int_{|z|
(2.13)$$

# 2.2. The Fock space

The classical Fock space corresponds to  $\gamma_n = n!$  in (1.2). See [28]. Besides Bargmann's celebrated characterization ( $M_z^* = \partial$ , where  $M_z$  is multiplication by z and  $\partial$  denotes differentiation), the Fock space can be seen as the only Hilbert space of functions analytic in a (say convex open) neighborhood of the origin in which the backward shift operator

$$(R_0 f)(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{f(z) - f(0)}{z}, & z \in V \setminus \{0\} \\ f'(0), & z = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

is bounded and has for adjoint the integration operator

$$(\mathbf{I}f)(z) = \int_{[0,z]} f(s)ds.$$
 (2.15)

See [7]. The above motivates the following definitions, which are the counterpart of (2.14) and (2.15) in our present setting.

**Definition 2.12.** Let  $F(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n$  be a matrix power series converging in a neighborhood of  $0_{p \times p}$ . We define

$$(R_0 F)(Z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^{n-1} F_n.$$
 (2.16)

$$\mathbf{I}\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n\right) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n+1} Z^n F_n.$$
(2.17)

It is not difficult to check that

$$\mathbf{I}(F) = \int_{[0,z]} F(sZ)ds.$$
(2.18)

**Definition 2.13.** The Fock space  $\mathfrak{F}$  consists of the matrix power series  $F(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n$  for which

$$\operatorname{Tr}[F,F]_{\mathfrak{F}} < \infty, \tag{2.19}$$

where

$$[F,F]_{\mathfrak{F}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n! F_n^* F_n.$$
(2.20)

We can apply Theorem 2.10 with  $m(r) = e^{-r^2}$  and obtain:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n! F_n^* F_n = \frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{C}} F(zI_p)^* F(zI_p) e^{-|z|^2} dx dy$$
(2.21)

For the case p = 1 the following result has been proved in [7, Lemma 2.1].

**Proposition 2.14.** The Fock space functions are defined for all  $Z \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  and the Fock space can be characterized, up to a positive multiplicative factor for the inner product, as the only space of matrix power series a priori defined near the origin and for which

$$R_0^* = \mathbf{I}.\tag{2.22}$$

**Proof.** The first claim follows from  $||Z^n|| \leq ||Z||^n$ . For the second claim, and with the understanding that  $R_0C = 0$  we have

$$[R_0^*(Z^nC), Z^mD]_{\mathfrak{F}} = \begin{cases} [Z^nC, Z^{m-1}D]_{\mathfrak{F}}, & m = 1, 2, \dots \\ 0, & m = 0, \end{cases}$$
$$= \delta_{n,m-1}(m-1)!D^*C$$
$$= \delta_{n+1,m}[\frac{1}{n+1}Z^{n+1}C, Z^mD]_{\mathfrak{F}}$$
$$= [\mathbf{I}(Z^nC), Z^mD]_{\mathfrak{F}}. \quad \Box$$

#### 2.3. Wiener algebra

The Wiener algebra of the unit circle, denoted here  $\mathcal{W}$ , consists of the trigonometric series of the form

$$f(e^{it}) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} f_n e^{int}$$
(2.23)

where the complex numbers  $f_n$  satisfy  $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} |f_n| < \infty$ . The celebrated Wiener-Lévy theorem states that f is invertible in  $\mathcal{W}$  if and only if it is pointwise invertible (that is, pointwise different from 0). The Wiener algebra is an example of Banach algebra. Two important subalgebras of the Wiener algebra consists of  $\mathcal{W}_+$  (resp.  $\mathcal{W}_-$ ) for which  $f_n = 0, n < 0$  (resp.  $f_n = 0, n > 0$ ). The Wiener algebra still makes sense when the  $f_n \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . The counterpart of the Wiener-Lévy theorem involves then the determinant of the function.

We now define the counterpart of  $\mathcal{W}_+$  in the present framework.

**Definition 2.15.** We denote by  $\mathfrak{W}_+$  the space of functions

$$F(Z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} Z^n F_n$$

with  $\rho(Z) \leq 1$  and  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ||F_n|| < \infty$ .

We leave to the reader to check that  $\mathfrak{W}_+$  endowed with the  $\star$  product is an algebra.

**Theorem 2.16.**  $F \in \mathfrak{W}_+$  is invertible in  $\mathfrak{W}_+$  if and only if

$$\det(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n) \neq 0, \quad |z| \le 1.$$

**Proof.** We first note that  $F(zI_p) \in \mathcal{W}^{p \times p}_+$ . So it will be invertible in  $\mathcal{W}^{p \times p}_+$  if and only if det  $F(zI_p) \neq 0$  in the closed unit disk. Assume this condition in force, and let  $g(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n G_n \in \mathcal{W}^{p \times p}_+$  (the lower case g is not a misprint) be such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|G_n\| < \infty$$

and  $F(zI_p)g(z) = I_p$ , for  $|z| \leq 1$ . Then, we have

$$F_0G_0 = I_p$$

$$F_0G_1 + F_1G_0 = 0$$

$$\vdots$$

$$F_0G_n + \dots + F_nG_0 = 0$$

$$\vdots$$

These equalities express that  $g(z) = G(zI_p)$  where  $G = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n G_n \in \mathfrak{W}_+$ . The converse statement is proved by reading backwards these arguments.  $\Box$ 

The definition of the counterpart of  $\mathcal{W}$  will involve a unitary variable Z. The case of the counterpart of  $\mathcal{W}_{-}$  will be more problematic since one then requires invertible Z. These aspects will be considered in a different publication, where a counterpart of the Wiener-Lévy inversion theorem is also considered.

# 2.4. Rational functions

We consider  $(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})^{u \times v}$  as a right module over  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  and a left module over  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  in the following ways:

**Definition 2.17.** Right module structure: For every  $u, v \in \mathbb{N}$ , every  $A_{jk} \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, u, k = 1, \ldots, v$ , and every  $C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ 

$$\left( (A_{jk})_{\substack{j=1,\dots u\\k=1,\dots v}} \right) C = (A_{jk}C)_{\substack{j=1,\dots u\\k=1,\dots v}}$$
(2.24)

Left module structure: in the above notation

$$C\left((A_{jk})_{\substack{j=1,\dots u\\k=1,\dots v}}\right) = (CA_{jk})_{\substack{j=1,\dots u\\k=1,\dots v}}.$$
(2.25)

We consider power series of the form

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A_n, \quad A_n \in (\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})^{u \times v}.$$
(2.26)

We extend  $R_0$  on these power series by

$$R_0(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^{n-1} A_n.$$

**Proposition 2.18.** Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a finitely generated right module of power series of the form (2.26). Assume that  $\mathfrak{M}$  is  $R_0$ -invariant. Then  $\mathfrak{M}$  is generated by the block columns of a matrix function of the form

$$E(Z) = C \star (I_{pN} - ZA)^{-\star}$$

where  $A \in (\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})^{N \times N}$  and  $C \in (\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})^{u \times N}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $F_1, \ldots, F_M$  a generating family for  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Every  $F_j$  is  $(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})^{u \times v}$ -valued and any  $F \in \mathfrak{M}$  can be written (possibly in a non-unique way) as

$$F = \sum_{m=1}^{M} F_m C_m, \quad C_1, \dots, C_M \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}.$$

Let

$$R_0 F_j = \sum_{r=1}^M F_r A_{rj}.$$

Let  $E = (F_1 \quad F_2 \quad \cdots \quad F_M)$ . Then,

$$\begin{aligned} R_0 F &= \begin{pmatrix} R_0 F_1 & R_0 F_2 & \cdots & R_0 F_M \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} F_1 A_{11} + F_2 A_{21} + \cdots & F_1 A_{12} + F_2 A_{22} + \cdots & \cdots & F_1 A_{1M} + F_2 A_{2M} + \cdots \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} F_1 & F_2 & \cdots & F_M \end{pmatrix} \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} & \cdots & A_{1M} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} & \cdots & A_{2M} \\ A_{M1} & A_{M2} & A_{MM} \end{pmatrix}}_{A \in (\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})^{M \times m}}. \end{aligned}$$

Let  $E = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n E_n$ ,  $E_n \in (\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})^{M \times M}$ . The above equation can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^{n-1} E_n = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n E_n A.$$

Hence

$$E_{n+1} = E_n A, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$

and so  $E_n = E_0 A^n$ , n = 0, 1, ... Thus

$$E(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n E_0 A^n = E_0 \star (I_{Np} - ZA)^{-\star}. \quad \Box$$

**Definition 2.19.** *E* of the form (2.26) is rational if the right linear module over  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  generated by  $R_0^j E$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots$  is finitely generated.

Theorem 2.20. E is rational if and only if

$$E(Z) = D + ZC \star (I_{pN} - ZA)^{-\star}B.$$
(2.27)

**Proof.** Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be the module generated by  $R_0^j E$ . Then  $\mathfrak{M}$  is generated by  $C \star (I_{pN} - ZA)^{-\star}$ . Write

$$R_0 E = C \star (I_{PN} - ZA)^{-\star} B.$$

So

$$ZR_0E = E - E_0 = ZC \star (I_{PN} - ZA)^{-\star}B,$$

and hence the result holds.  $\hfill\square$ 

We note that  $E(zI_p)$  is rational in the classical sense and the restriction of (2.27) to  $Z = zI_p$  gives a realization in the classical sense; see [29].

# 3. The Hardy space

#### 3.1. Definition

The classical Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})$  of the open unit disk  $\mathbb{D}$  is the space of power series  $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n f_n$  for which

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |f_n|^2 < \infty,$$

i.e., corresponding to  $\gamma_n \equiv 1$  in (1.2). It is the reproducing kernel Hilbert space with reproducing kernel

$$k(z,w) = \frac{1}{1-z\overline{w}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n \overline{w}^n, \qquad (3.1)$$

where z, w run through  $\mathbb{D}$ , and plays a key role in operator theory. It has numerous extensions and generalizations. In the present paper we consider its counterpart when the complex numbers are replaced by elements in  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ , and the Szegö kernel (3.1) replaced by

$$K(Z,W) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n W^{*n}$$
 (3.2)

where Z, W runs through the set of elements of  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  with spectral radius less than 1.

**Definition 3.1.** We denote by

$$\mathbb{K} = \left\{ Z \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}; \, \rho(Z) < 1 \right\}$$
(3.3)

where  $\rho(Z)$  denotes the spectral radius of Z.

**Definition 3.2.** The Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  consists of functions of the form

$$F(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n, \quad Z \in \mathbb{K},$$
(3.4)

where  $(F_0, F_1, \ldots)$  satisfy

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} F_n^* F_n\right) < \infty.$$
(3.5)

**Theorem 3.3.** When endowed with the  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued Hermitian form

$$[F,G]_2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G_n^* F_n, \qquad (3.6)$$

(where  $G(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n G_n$ ) and associated norm (3.5),  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  the reproducing kernel Hilbert module with reproducing kernel (3.2), meaning that

$$[F(\cdot), K(\cdot, W)C] = C^*F(W), \quad W \in \mathbb{K} \text{ and } C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}.$$
(3.7)

**Proof.** We consider the Hilbert space  $\ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  of sequences  $\mathbf{F} = (F_0, F_1, \ldots)$  of sequences of elements of  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  with finite norm (3.5). Note that  $\ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  is a right  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  module: it holds that

$$\mathbf{F} = (F_0, F_1, \ldots) \in \ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}) \implies \mathbf{F}A = (F_0A, F_1A, \ldots) \in \ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}),$$
$$\forall A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p},$$

as well as the linearity conditions

$$(\mathbf{F} + \mathbf{G})A = \mathbf{F}A + \mathbf{G}A$$
  
 $\mathbf{F}(A + B) = \mathbf{F}A + \mathbf{F}B,$ 

for all  $\mathbf{F}, \mathbf{G} \in \ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  and  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ ; see e.g. [48, p. 117].

We define

$$[\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{D}] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G_n^* F_n, \quad \mathbf{C} \text{ and } \mathbf{D} \in \ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}).$$
(3.8)

It holds that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathbf{C},\mathbf{D}\right] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr} G_n^* F_n, \qquad (3.9)$$

which is the inner product associated to (3.5).

 $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  is a Hilbert space since  $\ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  is a Hilbert space, and since the coefficients  $F_n$  in (3.4) are uniquely determined by F(Z) (and in fact by  $F(zI_p)$  with  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ ). Furthermore we have with F as in (3.4),

$$[F(\cdot), K(\cdot, W)C]_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})} = [\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^{n}F_{n}, \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^{n}W^{*n}C]_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C^{*}W^{n}F_{n}$$
$$= [F(W), C]_{\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}}. \quad \Box$$

**Theorem 3.4.** Let  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n \in \mathcal{H}_1$ . It holds that

$$\lim_{\substack{r\uparrow 1\\r\in(0,1)}} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} F(re^{i\theta}I_p)^* F(re^{i\theta}I_p) d\theta = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} F_n^* F_n$$
(3.10)

where both sides simultaneously converge or diverge.

**Proof.** The arguments as in the proof of Theorem 2.10 show that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} F(re^{i\theta}I_p)^* F(re^{i\theta}I_p) d\theta = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r^{2n} F_n^* F_n.$$

Thus, for every  $w \in \mathbb{C}^p$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} w^* F(re^{i\theta}I_p)^* F(re^{i\theta}I_p) w d\theta = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r^{2n} w^* F_n^* F_n w.$$

Then use the monotone convergence theorem and the polarization identity

$$w^*Xz = \frac{1}{4}\sum_{k=0}^3 i^{-k}(w+i^k z)^*X(w+i^k z), \quad w, z \in \mathbb{C}^p, \quad X \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}. \quad \Box \quad (3.11)$$

In what follows we will make frequent use of the operators

$$(M_Z F)(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^{n+1} F_n,$$
 (3.12)

$$(M_A F)(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A F_n.$$
 (3.13)

Note that  $M_A$  satisfies

$$(M_A)^* = M_{A^*}. (3.14)$$

Note also that  $M_Z$  is an isometry with adjoint  $R_0$ :

$$(M_Z^*)\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^{n-1} F_n.$$
 (3.15)

Note that the right hand side of (3.15) makes sense for converging matrix power series even if the series does not belong to the Hardy space. Furthermore, for p = 1 the formula reduces to the classical backward-shift operator defined by (2.14) for a function f analytic in a neighborhood V of the origin.

### 3.2. Resolvent operators and resolvent equations

We follow [23, §2.3] suitably adapted to the present setting. Recall that  $M_A$  denotes the operator of multiplication of the coefficients on the left by A; see (3.13). We define an operator  $R_A$  on power series in Z via:

$$(R_A F)(zI_p) = (zI_p - A)^{-1}(F(zI_p) - F(A)).$$
(3.16)

When  $A = 0_{p \times p}$  this is the operator  $R_0$  defined in (2.16).

**Lemma 3.5.** Let  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n$ . Then,

$$R_A F = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k \left( \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} A^{n-1-k} F_n \right)$$
(3.17)

**Proof.** We have

$$R_{A}F(zI_{p}) = (zI_{n} - A)^{-1} \left( \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (z^{n}I_{p} - A^{n})F_{n} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (zI_{p} - A)^{-1} (z^{n}I_{p} - A^{n})F_{n}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1-k} (z^{k}A^{n-1-k})F_{n}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} z^{k} \left( \sum_{n=k+1}^{\infty} A^{n-1-k}F_{n} \right)$$

and hence the result holds.  $\hfill\square$ 

Lemma 3.6. (see also [23, (2.32) p. 265] for the time-varying counterpart)

$$R_A = R_0 (I - M_A R_0)^{-1}. aga{3.18}$$

**Proof.** We follow [23] and set  $G = (I - M_A R_0) F$ . We have:

$$G = F - M_A R_0 F$$
  
=  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n - M_A \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^{n-1} F_n$   
=  $F_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (Z^n - Z^{n-1}A) F_n$   
=  $F_0 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^{n-1} (Z - A) F_n$ 

and so  $G(A) = F_0$  and

$$G(zI_p) = F_0 + (zI_p - A)(R_0F)(zI_p).$$
(3.19)

Thus

$$(R_A G)(zI_p) = (zI_p - A)^{-1}(G(zI_p) - G(A))$$
  
=  $(zI_n - A)^{-1}((G - F_0)(zI_p))$   
=  $(R_0 F)(zI_p)$ 

so that

$$R_A(I - M_A R_0) = R_0$$

and hence the result holds.  $\hfill\square$ 

We now have the resolvent equation:

**Theorem 3.7.** Let  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . It holds that:

$$R_A - R_B = R_A (M_A - M_B) R_B. (3.20)$$

**Proof.** Using

$$R_0(I - M_A R_0)^{-1} = (I - R_0 M_A)^{-1} R_0$$

we can write

$$\begin{aligned} R_A - R_B &= R_0 (I - M_A R_0)^{-1} - R_0 (I - M_B R_0)^{-1} \\ &= (I - R_0 M_A)^{-1} R_0 - R_0 (I - M_B R_0)^{-1} \\ &= (I - R_0 M_A)^{-1} (R_0 - R_0 M_B R_0 - R_0 + R_0 M_A R_0) R_0 (I - M_B R_0)^{-1} \\ &= (I - R_0 M_A)^{-1} (R_0 M_A R_0 - R_0 M_B R_0) R_0 (I - M_B R_0)^{-1} \\ &= (I - R_0 M_A)^{-1} R_0 (M_A - M_B) R_0 (I - M_B R_0)^{-1} \\ &= R_0 (I - M_A R_0)^{-1} (M_A - M_B) R_0 (I - M_B R_0)^{-1} \end{aligned}$$

and hence the result holds.  $\hfill\square$ 

# 3.3. Blaschke factor

Given a matrix  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  with  $\rho(A) < 1$ , the unique solution to the Stein equation

$$\Gamma_A - A\Gamma_A A^* = I_p \tag{3.21}$$

is given by the converging series

$$\Gamma_A = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n A^{*n}.$$
(3.22)

Observe that  $\Gamma_A \ge I_p$  and hence is invertible. If we let

$$L_A = \Gamma_A - \Gamma_A A^* \Gamma_A^{-1} A \Gamma_A,$$

then it follows by the Sherman-Morrison formula that

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$L_A^{-1} = A^* A + \Gamma_A^{-1} \ge 0.$$
(3.23)

Let us now introduce the power series

$$U_{A}(Z) := (Z - A) \star (I - Z\Gamma_{A}A^{*}\Gamma_{A}^{-1})^{-*}L_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
  
$$= -AL_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^{n}(I - A\Gamma_{A}A^{*}\Gamma_{A}^{-1})(\Gamma_{A}A^{*}\Gamma_{A}^{-1})^{n-1}L_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
  
$$= -AL_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^{n}A^{*(n-1)}\Gamma_{A}^{-1}L_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.24)

The first power series representation of  $U_A$  above follows since

$$(I - Z\Gamma_A A^* \Gamma_A^{-1})^{-\star} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k (\Gamma_A A^* \Gamma_A^{-1})^k,$$

while the next representation follows since

$$(I - A\Gamma_A A^* \Gamma_A^{-1}) (\Gamma_A A^* \Gamma_A^{-1})^{n-1} = (I - A\Gamma_A A^* \Gamma_A^{-1}) \Gamma_A A^{*(n-1)} \Gamma_A^{-1}$$
$$= (\Gamma_A - A\Gamma_A A^*) A^{*(n-1)} \Gamma_A^{-1} = A^{*(n-1)} \Gamma_A^{-1}$$

for all  $n \ge 1$ , due to (3.21).

**Proposition 3.8.** Let  $U_A(Z)$  be defined as in (3.24). Then

$$\left[M_Z^n U_A, M_Z^k U_A\right]_2 = \delta_{n,k} I_p \quad for \ all \quad n,k \ge 0.$$
(3.25)

**Proof.** By (3.15), it suffices to verify (3.25) for k = 0. For n = 0, we have by (3.24) and definitions (3.6) and (3.22),

$$\begin{split} [U_A, U_A]_2 &= L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} A^* A L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma_A^{-1} A^j A^{*j} \Gamma_A^{-1} L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( A^* A + \Gamma_A^{-1} \left( \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} A^j A^{*j} \right) \Gamma_A^{-1} \right) L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( A^* A + \Gamma_A^{-1} \right) L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} = L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} L_A L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} = I_p. \end{split}$$

For n > 0, we have

$$Z^{n}U_{A}(Z) = -Z^{n}AL_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} Z^{j+n}A^{*(j-1)}\Gamma_{A}^{-1}L_{A}^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

and subsequently,

$$[M_Z^n U_A, U_A]_2 = -L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma_A^{-1} A^{n-1} A L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma_A^{-1} A^{n+j} A^{*j} \Gamma_A^{-1} L_A^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$= L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma_A^{-1} A^n \left( -I_p + \left( \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} A^j A^{*j} \right) \Gamma_A^{-1} \right) L_A^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$= L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma_A^{-1} A^n \left( -I_p + \Gamma_A \Gamma_A^{-1} \right) L_A^{\frac{1}{2}} = 0,$$

which completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 3.9.** The operator  $M_{U_A}$ :  $F(z) \mapsto U_A(z) \star F(z)$  is an isometry on  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  in the following sense:

$$[U_A \star F, U_A \star F]_2 = [F, F]_2 \quad for \ any \quad F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}).$$
(3.26)

Indeed, if we take  $F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  in the form (3.4), then we have, by (3.25),

$$[U_A \star F, U_A \star F]_2 = \left[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} M_Z^j U_A C_j, \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} M_Z^j U_A C_j\right]_2$$
$$= \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} [U_A C_j, U_A C_j]_2 = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} [C_j, C_j]_2 = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} C_j^* C_j = [F, F]_2.$$

**Proposition 3.10.**  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}) \ominus M_{U_A} \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}) = \{K(Z, A)C : C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}\}.$ 

**Proof.** Since  $U_A(A) = 0$ , it follows by Proposition 2.6 that  $(U_A \star F)(A) = 0$  for any  $F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ . Therefore, by (3.7) we have

$$[U_A \star F, K(Z, A)C]_2 = C^*(U_A \star F)(A) = 0$$

for all  $F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  and  $C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . Therefore, the submodules  $\{K(Z, A)C : C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}\}$ and  $M_{U_A}\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  of  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  are orthogonal with respect to the form (3.6).

We next take an arbitrary  $G(Z) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} Z^j G_j \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ , which is orthogonal to  $M_{U_A}\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ . In particular, it is orthogonal to  $Z^n U_A$  for all  $n \ge 0$ . In other words,

$$[G, M_Z^n U_A]_2 = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad n \ge 0,$$

which can be written in terms of coefficients of G and  $U_A$  (see (3.24)) as

$$-L_A^{\frac{1}{2}}A^*G_n + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} L_A^{\frac{1}{2}}\Gamma_A^{-1}A^{j-1}G_{n+j} = 0,$$

or equivalently,

$$-\Gamma_A A^* G_n + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} A^{j-1} G_{n+j} = 0$$
(3.27)

for all  $n \ge 0$ . Replacing n by n + 1 in (3.27) and multiplying both parts by A on the left we get

$$-A\Gamma_A A^* G_{n+1} + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} A^j G_{n+j+1} = 0.$$

Upon subtracting the latter equality from (3.27) we get

$$0 = \Gamma_A A^* G_n - A \Gamma_A A^* G_{n+1} - G_{n+1}$$
  
=  $\Gamma_A A^* G_n - (I + A \Gamma_A A^*) G_{n+1} = \Gamma_A A^* G_n - \Gamma_A G_{n+1}.$ 

Therefore,  $G_{n+1} = A^{*n}G_n$  for all  $n \ge 0$  and hence  $G_n = A^{*n}G_0$ , so that

$$G(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} Z^j A^{*n} G_0 = K(Z, A) G(0),$$

which completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 3.11.** An element F of  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  satisfies F(A) = 0 if and only if it is of the form  $F = U_A \star G$  for some  $G \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ .

**Proof.** The "if" part follows from Remark 2.6 since  $U_A(A) = 0$ . On the other hand, if  $F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  is subject to F(A) = 0, then

$$[F, K(\cdot, A)C]_2 = C^*F(A) = 0, \quad C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p},$$

and hence,  $F \in M_{U_A}\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ , by Proposition 3.10.  $\Box$ 

The preceding results are of special interest when  $Z = zI_p$ . The function  $b_A(z) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} U_A(zI_p)$  is then a  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued rational function contractive in the open unit disk and unitary on the unit circle. As such one can apply the results of [19,20] which characterize such functions, as we now explain. We rewrite first

$$b_A(z) = -AL_A^{1/2} + z(I_p - zA^*)^{-1}\Gamma_A^{-1}L_A^{1/2}$$
(3.28)

$$= (zI_p - A)(I_p - z\Gamma_A A^* \Gamma_A^{-1})^{-1} L_A^{1/2}$$
(3.29)

$$= (I_p - zA^*)^{-1} (zI_P - AL_A^{-1}) L_A^{1/2}.$$
(3.30)

These equations are a direct consequence of (3.24) when  $Z = zI_p$ . When  $A = aI_p$  with  $a \in \mathbb{D}$ , we have

$$b_A(z) = \frac{z-a}{1-z\overline{a}}I_p.$$

Furthermore, we set

$$\mathcal{A} = A^*$$

$$\mathcal{B} = \Gamma_A^{-1} L_A^{1/2}$$

$$\mathcal{C} = I_p$$

$$\mathcal{D} = -A L_A^{1/2}$$
(3.31)

so that

$$b_A(z) = \mathcal{D} + z\mathcal{C}(I_p - z\mathcal{A})^{-1}\mathcal{B}.$$

**Theorem 3.12.** (3.31) is a minimal realization of  $b_A(z)$  and it holds that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{B} \\ \mathcal{C} & \mathcal{D} \end{pmatrix}^* \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_A & 0 \\ 0 & I_p \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{B} \\ \mathcal{C} & \mathcal{D} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_A & 0 \\ 0 & I_p \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.32)

**Proof.** We need to verify that

$$A\Gamma_A A^* + I_p = \Gamma_A \tag{3.33}$$

$$L_A^{1/2} \Gamma_A^{-1} \Gamma_A A^* - L_A^{1/2} A^* = 0$$
(3.34)

$$L_A^{1/2} \Gamma_A^{-1} \Gamma_A \Gamma_A^{-1} L_A^{1/2} + L_A^{1/2} A^* A L_A^{1/2} = I_p.$$
(3.35)

The first identity is just (3.21), the second one is trivial and the last identity follows from (3.23).  $\Box$ 

**Remark 3.13.** In the language of [20],  $\Gamma_A$  is the associated Hermitian matrix associated to the minimal realization (3.31).

As a corollary of the previous arguments we see that an element  $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})^{p \times p}$ , with  $F_0, F_1, \ldots \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  satisfies f(A) = 0 if and only if it can be written as

$$f(z) = b_A(z)g(z)$$

where  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})^{p \times p}$ , and ||f|| = ||g||. One could also obtain this result directly from [3] or [27] for instance.

#### Particular cases:

In the case of quaternions, we take

$$Z = \begin{pmatrix} z_1 & -z_2 \\ \overline{z}_2 & \overline{z}_1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad A = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & -a_2 \\ \overline{a}_2 & \overline{a}_1 \end{pmatrix}, \ |a_1|^2 + |a_2|^2 < 1.$$
(3.36)

Since  $AA^* = A^*A = (|a_1|^2 + |a_2|^2)I_2$ , we derive from (3.22)  $\Gamma_a = (1 - |a_1|^2 - |a_2|^2)^{-1}$ ,  $L_A = I_2$ , and then (3.24) amounts to

$$U_A = (Z - A) \star (I_2 - ZA^*)^{-*}.$$

See [10], where the quaternionic notation rather than matrix notation is used.

The split quaternions correspond to

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & a_2 \\ \overline{a_2} & \overline{a_1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{C}.$$

See [21,43,52]. We now have, with

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$AJA^* = (|a_1|^2 - |a_2|^2)J.$$

Thus, an indefinite metric appears and the current theory has to be appropriately extended.

# 3.4. A Beurling-Lax type theorem

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a closed subspace of  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  invariant under  $M_Z$ . Then, the set of functions of a complex variable  $F(zI_p)$  with  $F \in \mathfrak{M}$  is a z-invariant subspace of the classical Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}) \otimes \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  (i.e.  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued functions with entries in  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})$ ). By the classical Beurling-Lax theorem there is a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{C}$  and a  $L(\mathcal{C}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ -valued function  $\Theta$ which takes coisometric values on the unit circle and such that

$$\mathfrak{M} = \Theta \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}, \mathcal{C}).$$

Let  $\Theta(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n \Theta_n$  and for  $H \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}, \mathcal{C})$ , set  $H(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n H_n$ . Let  $F = \Theta H$ , with  $F(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n$ . A priori  $\mathcal{C}$  is not a left  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -module and we cannot lift directly to the setting of the paper, i.e., cannot write from

$$F(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n = \Theta(z)H(z)$$
(3.37)

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n = \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \Theta_n\right) \star \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n H_n\right).$$

But (3.37) can be rewritten as

$$F(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n \left( \sum_{k=0}^n \Theta_k H_{n-k} \right)$$
(3.38)

The operator products  $\Theta_k H_{n-k}$  make sense by construction, and (3.38) is equivalent to

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \left( \sum_{k=0}^n \Theta_k H_{n-k} \right).$$
(3.39)

Hence:

**Theorem 3.14.** Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a closed subspace of  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  invariant under  $M_Z$ . There exist a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{C}$  and an operator-valued function  $\Theta = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \Theta_n$  such that  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n \in \mathfrak{M}$  if and only if (3.38) holds for some  $H \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}, \mathcal{C})$ .

# 4. Interpolation

We want to solve:

**Problem 4.1.** Given  $A_1, B_1, \ldots, A_N, B_N \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  (the interpolation data), describe the set of all functions  $F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  such that

$$F(A_j) = B_j, \quad j = 1, ..., N$$
 (4.1)

We follow the classical approach to interpolation in reproducing kernel spaces (and, more generally, modules; see [4]). We look for a solution of the form

$$F = \sum_{j=1}^{N} (I - ZA_j^*)^{-*}C_j$$

where  $C_1, \ldots, C_N \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  are to be found. Since

$$F = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A_j^{*n} C_j$$

the interpolation conditions lead to

$$B_k = F(A_k) = \sum_{j=1}^N \sum_{n=0}^\infty A_k^n A_j^{*n} C_j, \quad k = 1, \dots, N,$$

and so

$$\underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_1^n A_1^{*n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_1^n A_2^{*n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_1^n A_N^{*n} \\ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_2^n A_1^{*n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_2^n A_2^{*n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_2^n A_N^{*n} \\ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_N^n A_1^{*n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_N^n A_2^{*n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_N^n A_N^{*n} \end{pmatrix}}_{\mathbf{G}} \begin{pmatrix} C_1 \\ C_2 \\ \vdots \\ C_N \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ \vdots \\ B_N \end{pmatrix} \quad (4.2)$$

The Gram matrix **G** is positive semi-definite. When it is positive definite, one can solve and get the  $C_j$ . The fact that  $\mathbf{G} > 0$  means that the interpolation points are "far away" enough one from the other. Similar phenomenon occurs in the time-varying setting. See [38].

By the Beurling-Lax theorem considered in the previous section one can then consider the functions for which interpolation is met with  $B_1 = \cdots = B_N = 0$  and get a description of all solutions, which we now present.

Let

$$\mathcal{C} = \underbrace{(I_p \quad I_p \quad \cdots \quad I_p)}_{N \text{ times}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A} = \operatorname{diag}(A_1^*, A_2^*, \dots, A_N^*).$$
(4.3)

The matrix  $\mathbf{G}$  satisfies the Stein equation

$$\mathbf{G} - \mathcal{A}^* \mathbf{G} \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{C}^* \mathcal{C} \tag{4.4}$$

**Proposition 4.2.** Define (with  $\star$  product performed block-wise)

$$\Theta(Z) = I_p - (I_p - Z) \star \left( (I_p - ZA_1^*)^{-\star} \cdots (I_p - ZA_N^*)^{-\star} \right) \mathbf{G}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} (I_p - A_1)^{-1} \\ \vdots \\ (I_p - A_N)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.5)

It holds that

$$\Theta(A_j) = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, N. \tag{4.6}$$

**Proof.** We have

$$\begin{split} &(I_p - Z) \star C \star \begin{pmatrix} (I_p - ZA_1^*)^{-\star} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & (I_p - ZA_2^*)^{-\star} & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & (I_p - ZA_N^*)^{-\star} \end{pmatrix} (A_1) = \\ &= \underbrace{(I_p - Z & I_p - Z & \cdots)}_{N \text{ times}} \star \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A_1^{n*} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A_2^{n*} & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A_N^{n*} \end{pmatrix} (A_1) \\ &= \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (Z^n - Z^{n+1}) A_1^{n*} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (Z^n - Z^{n+1}) A_2^{n*} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (Z^n - Z^{n+1}) A_N^{n*} \right) (A_1) \\ &= ((I_p - A_1) G_{11} & (I_p - A_1) G_{12} & \cdots & (I_p - A_1) G_{1N}) \\ &= (I_p - A_1) (G_{11} & G_{12} & \cdots & G_{1N}). \end{split}$$

Hence (here too with  $\times$  denoting regular matrix multiplication)

$$\begin{split} \Theta(A_1) &= I_p - (I_p - A_1) \left( G_{11} \quad G_{12} \quad \cdots \quad G_{1N} \right) \mathbf{G}^{-1} \times \\ & \times \begin{pmatrix} (I_p - A_1)^{-1} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & (I_p - A_2)^{-1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & (I_p - A_N)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} C^* \\ &= I_p - (I_p - A_1) \left( I_p \quad 0 \quad \cdots \quad 0 \right) \times \\ & \times \begin{pmatrix} (I_p - A_1)^{-1} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & (I_p - A_2)^{-1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & (I_p - A_N)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} C^* \\ &= I_p - (I_p \quad 0 \quad \cdots \quad 0) C^* \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

The same argument works of course for  $A_2, \ldots, A_N$ .  $\Box$ 

We now set

$$\psi(z) = \Theta(zI_p) = I_p - (1-z)C(I_{Np} - zA)^{-1}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A^*)^{-1}C^*$$

**Proposition 4.3.** It holds that

$$\frac{I_p - \psi(z)\psi(w)^*}{1 - z\overline{w}} = C(I_{Np} - zA)^{-1}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - \overline{w}A^*)^{-1}C^*$$
(4.7)

and in particular  $\psi$  is a rational inner function and so the operation of multiplication by  $\psi$  is an isometry from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  into itself.

(4.7) is a classical computation based on the identity (4.4), which originates with L. de Branges' work; see [36] for the latter (see also [40]). We refer to [1, Exercise 7.1.17 p. 375 and p. 402] for a recent presentation of the computation. Rather than proving (4.7) we present a minimal realization of  $\psi$  and compute its associated Hermitian matrix, as in Theorem 3.12.

**Theorem 4.4.** With A and C as in (4.3) and

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathbf{G}^{-1} (I_{Np} - \mathcal{A}^*)^{-1} \mathcal{C}^*$$
(4.8)

$$\mathcal{D} = I_p - \mathcal{C}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - \mathcal{A}^*)^{-1}\mathcal{C}^*$$
(4.9)

we have

$$\psi(z) = \mathcal{D} + z\mathcal{C}(I_{Np} - z\mathcal{A})^{-1}\mathcal{B}$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{B} \\ \mathcal{C} & \mathcal{D} \end{pmatrix}^* \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G} & 0 \\ 0 & I_p \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{B} \\ \mathcal{C} & \mathcal{D} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G} & 0 \\ 0 & I_p \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.10)

**Proof.** We set  $A = \text{diag}(A_1, A_2, \dots, A_N)$ . The (2, 1) block equality in (4.10) is

 $\mathcal{A}^*\mathbf{G}\mathcal{A} + \mathcal{C}^*\mathcal{C} = \mathbf{G}$ 

which is (4.4). The (1,2) block amounts to

$$\mathcal{A}^*\mathbf{G}\mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}^*\mathcal{D} = 0,$$

which is equivalent to

$$A\mathbf{G}(I_{Np} - A)^*\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)^{-1}\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{C}^*\left(I_p - \mathcal{C}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)^{-1}\mathcal{C}^*\right) = 0.$$

Equivalently

$$\mathcal{C}^* + (A\mathbf{G}(I_{Np} - A^*) + \mathcal{C}^*\mathcal{C})\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)^{-1}\mathcal{C}^* = 0,$$

i.e., after using (4.4)

$$\mathcal{C}^* + (A - I_{Np})\mathbf{G}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)^{-1}\mathcal{C}^* = 0,$$

which clearly holds. To conclude we verify that identity holds in the (2, 2)-block, i.e. that we have

$$I_{p} = \mathcal{C}(I_{Np} - A^{*})^{-1}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)\mathbf{G}(I_{Np} - A^{*})\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)^{-1}\mathcal{C}^{*} + I_{p} - \mathcal{C}(I_{Np} - A^{*})^{-1}\mathbf{G}^{-1}\mathcal{C}^{*} - \mathcal{C}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)^{-1}\mathcal{C}^{*} + \mathcal{C}(I_{Np} - A^{*})^{-1}\mathbf{G}^{-1}\mathcal{C}^{*}\mathcal{C}\mathbf{G}^{-1}(I_{Np} - A)^{-1}\mathcal{C}^{*}.$$

This amounts to check that

$$\mathcal{C}(I_{Np} - A^*)^{-1} \mathbf{G}^{-1} \Delta \mathbf{G}^{-1} (I_{Np} - A)^{-1} \mathcal{C}^* = 0$$

where

$$\Delta = (I_{Np} - A)\mathbf{G}(I_{Np} - A^*) + \mathcal{C}^*\mathcal{C} - (I_{Np} - A)\mathbf{G} - \mathbf{G}(I_{Np} - A^*) = 0.$$

But it is readily seen that  $\Delta = 0$  using (4.4).  $\Box$ 

We now come back to the original interpolation problem.

**Proposition 4.5.** Let  $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_N \in \mathbb{K}$  be such that the matrix **G** (defined by (4.2)) is strictly positive. Then,  $F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  vanishes at  $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_N$  if and only if it is in the range of  $M_{\Theta}$ .

**Proof.** It follows by the characterization (3.4) of the inner product in  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  that the operator  $M_{\Theta}$  of star-multiplication on the left by  $\Theta$  is an isometry from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself. Thus (and taking into account that  $M_{\Theta}$  is an isometry)

$$\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K}) = \operatorname{Ran}\left(I - M_{\Theta}M_{\Theta}^{*}\right) \oplus \operatorname{Ran}\left(M_{\Theta}M_{\Theta}^{*}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Ran}\left(I - M_{\Theta}M_{\Theta}^{*}\right) \oplus \operatorname{Ran}M_{\Theta}.$$

To characterize Ran  $(I - M_{\Theta}M_{\Theta}^*)$  we first remark that  $\frac{I_p - \psi(z)\psi(w)^*}{1-z\overline{w}}$  is the reproducing kernel of  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}) \ominus \psi \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  and that

$$\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}) \ominus \psi \mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{D}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}) = \operatorname{Ran}\left(I - M_{\psi}M_{\psi}^{*}\right).$$
(4.11)

From (4.7) follows that Ran  $(I - M_{\psi}M_{\psi}^*)$  is spanned by the functions  $(I_p - zA_j^*)^{-1}$  with coefficients on the right belonging to  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ , and this ends the proof since

$$((I_p - ZA_j^*)^{-*}D)(zI_p) = (I_p - zA_j^*)^{-1}D, \quad j = 1, \dots, N \text{ and } D \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}.$$
 (4.12)

This concludes the proof since a function  $F \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  vanishes at  $A_1, \ldots, A_N$  if and only if it is orthogonal to the functions (4.12).  $\Box$ 

Combining with the beginning of the section we have:

**Theorem 4.6.** Let  $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_N \in \mathbb{K}$  be such that the matrix G (defined by (4.2)) is strictly positive, and let  $B_1, \ldots, B_N \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . Then F satisfies the interpolation conditions (4.1)

$$F(A_j) = B_j, \quad j = 1, \dots, N$$
 (4.13)

if and only if F is of the form

$$F = F_{\min} + \Theta \star G \tag{4.14}$$

where

$$F_{\min} = \left(I_p - ZA_1^*\right)^{-\star} \quad (I_p - ZA_2^*)^{-\star} \quad \cdots \quad (I_p - ZA_N^*)^{-\star} \left( \begin{array}{c} B_1 \\ \vdots \\ B_N \end{array} \right)$$

and G runs through  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ . The decomposition (4.14) is orthogonal.

# 5. Schur multipliers

# 5.1. Definition

We denote by  $S_p$  the Schur class of  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued Schur multipliers, meaning that the operator  $M_S$  of multiplication by  $S \in S_p$  on the left is a contraction from the Hardy space  $(\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D}))^p$ . In this section we consider the case of  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued Schur multipliers for the space  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ . The operator-valued case, where now S takes values in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  for some Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  will be considered in Section 5.6.

**Theorem 5.1.** Let  $S(Z) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} Z^j S_j$ . Then the kernel

$$K_S(Z,W) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k (I_p - S(Z)S(W)^*) W^{*k}$$
(5.1)

is positive definite on  $\mathbb{K}$  if and only if  $s(z) := S(zI_p)$  belongs to the Schur class  $\mathcal{S}_p$ .

**Proof.** The "only if" part: the positivity of the kernel (5.1) means that for any choice of matrices  $P_1, \ldots, P_n \in \mathbb{K}$ , the following matrix is positive semidefinite:

$$\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} P_i^k (I_p - S(P_i)S(P_j)^*) P_j^{*k}\right)_{i,j=1,\dots,n} \ge 0.$$
(5.2)

Letting  $P_i = z_i I_p$  ( $|z_i| < 1$ ) gives

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} z_i^k (I_p - s(z_i)s(s_j)^*)\overline{z_j}^k\right)_{i,j=1,\dots,n} = \left(\frac{I_p - s(z_i)s(s_j)^*}{1 - z_i\overline{z_j}}\right)_{i,j=1,\dots,n} \ge 0.$$

Therefore, the kernel

$$K_s(z,w) = \frac{I_p - s(z)s(w)^*}{1 - z\overline{w}}$$

is positive on  $\mathbb{D}$  and hence s is a  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued Schur-class function.

Conversely, let us assume that the function  $s(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} S_j z^j$  belongs to  $S_p$ . Then it admits a coisometric (observable) realization

$$s(z) = S_0 + zC(I_{\mathcal{X}} - zA)^{-1}B = S_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} z^j CA^{j-1}B$$

with the state space  $\mathcal{X}$  (the de Branges-Rovnyak space  $\mathcal{H}(K_s)$ , for example). Therefore,

$$S_j = CA^{j-1}B$$
 for all  $j \ge 1$ .

Then

$$S(Z) = S_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} Z^j C A^{j-1} B = S_0 + ZC \star (I_{\mathcal{X}} - ZA)^{-\star} B.$$

Then the kernel (5.1) is positive definite on  $\mathbb{K}$ , by Theorem 5.9, below.  $\Box$ 

Having in view the quaternionic setting we recall the following result, which complements Theorem 5.1. For a proof, see [39].

**Theorem 5.2.** Let s be a matrix-valued function defined on a subset of the open unit disk, having an accumulation point in the open unit disk (as opposed to on the unit circle). Assume that the kernel  $K_s(z, w)$  is positive-definite on  $\Omega$ . Then s is the restriction to  $\Omega$ of a uniquely defined function analytic and contractive in the open unit disk.

Theorem 5.2 is used in the theory of slice-holomorphic function taking  $\Omega$  to be some open subinterval of (-1, 1). See [13].

**Theorem 5.3.** Let S be a function from  $\mathbb{K}$  into  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . The following are equivalent: (1) The function

$$K_S(A,B) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n (I_p - S(A)S(B)^*)B^{*n}$$
(5.3)

is positive definite on  $\mathbb{K}$ .

(2) The function S is a power series:  $S(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n S_n$  and the operator of  $\star$  multiplication by S on the left is a contraction from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself.

**Proof.** Assume first the kernel (5.3) positive definite in  $\mathbb{K}$ . Setting A = B, and since  $K_S(A, A) \ge 0$ , we get that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n S(A) S(A)^* A^{*n} \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n A^{*n} < \infty, \quad A \in \mathbb{K},$$

and so the function  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n S(A)^* A^{*n} C$  belongs to  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  for every  $C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . The positivity of the kernel then implies that the linear relation spanned by the pairs

$$\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A^{*n} C, \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n S(A)^* A^{*n} C\right) \subset \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}) \times \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$$
(5.4)

extends to the graph of a contraction, say T. One then computes

$$T^*(Z^m D) = S(Z) \star (Z^m D).$$

Conversely, assume that the operator  $M_S$  of  $\star$  multiplication by S is a contraction from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself. We compute  $M_S^*(K(\cdot, A)C)$  for  $A \in \mathbb{K}$  and  $C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ :

$$\begin{split} [M_S^*(K(\cdot,A)C), Z^mD]_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} &= [K(\cdot,A,)C, Z^mS(Z)D]_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} \\ &= [Z^mS(Z)D, K(\cdot,A,)C]_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})}^* \\ &= (C^*A^mS(A)^*D)^* \\ &= D^*S(A)^*A^{*m}C \end{split}$$

and so, by continuity,

$$\begin{split} [M_S^*(K(\cdot,A)C), K(\cdot,B)D]_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [K(\cdot,A,)C, Z^n S(Z)B^{*n}D]_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} D^*B^n S(A)^*A^{*n}C \end{split}$$

and so

$$M_{S}^{*}(K(\cdot, A)C) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^{n}S(A)^{*}A^{*n}C$$
(5.5)

and similarly

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$M_{S}^{*}(K(\cdot, B)D) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^{n}S(B)^{*}B^{*n}D.$$

Thus

$$[M_{S}^{*}(K(\cdot,B)D), M_{S}^{*}(K(\cdot,A)C)] = C^{*} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{n}S(A)S(B)^{*}B^{*n}D.$$

The result follows by expressing that  $M_S$  is a contraction.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 5.4.** We note that the block matrix representation of  $M_S$  is

$$\begin{pmatrix} S_0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots \\ S_1 & S_0 & 0 & \ddots & \cdots \\ S_2 & S_1 & S_0 & 0 & \cdots \\ \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.6)

This follows from the convolution formula

$$G_n = \sum_{u=0}^n S_u F_{n-u}, \quad u = 0, 1, \dots$$
(5.7)

for the coefficients  $G_0, G_1, \ldots \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  of  $S \star F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n G_n$ , where  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}).$ 

By the definition of the inner product, the contractivity is expressed as

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left( \sum_{u=0}^{n} S_{u}^{*} F_{n-u} \right)^{*} \left( \sum_{u=0}^{n} S_{u}^{*} F_{n-u} \right) \leq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} F_{n}^{*} F_{n}.$$
(5.8)

**Remark 5.5.** (analytic extension) The positivity of the kernel (5.3) implies that  $M_S$  is a contraction from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself. In particular  $S = M_S(I_p) \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ , and is of the form  $S = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n S_n$ . When p = 1 a much stronger result holds (see [39]): if (for p = 1), S is supposed **defined** on an open set, say  $\Omega$ , of  $\mathbb{D}$  (or more generally a subset of  $\mathbb{D}$  having an accumulation point in  $\mathbb{D}$ ) and if the corresponding kernel (5.3) is positive in  $\Omega$ , then S is the restriction to  $\Omega$  of a uniquely defined function S analytic and contractive in the open unit disk. We do not know if there is a counterpart of the result for p > 1.

**Remark 5.6.** We note that  $K_S(A, B)$  is the unique solution of the matrix equation

$$K_S(A,B) - AK_S(A,B)B^* = I_p - S(A)S(B)^*, \quad A, B \in \mathbb{K}.$$
 (5.9)

This "structural identity" is the tool needed to extend the theory of  $\mathcal{H}(S)$  spaces (see e.g., [44,45]) from the complex scalar case to the present setting. In the case of quaternions

a similar equation and analysis hold; see [10]. But an important difference is that  $q\overline{q} \in [0, \infty)$  for a quaternion q with conjugate  $\overline{q}$ , corresponding here to (3.36).

Note that, with  $M_A^r$  being the operator of multiplication on the right by A, i.e.

$$M_A^r(Z^m B) = Z^m B A, \quad A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

we have:

$$M_S M_Z = M_Z M_S \tag{5.10}$$

$$M_S M_A^r = M_A^r M_S \tag{5.11}$$

We now present a version of the Bochner-Chandrasekharan theorem (see [30, Theorem 72, p. 144]) in our present setting.

**Theorem 5.7.** Let T be linear and contractive from  $H_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself, and satisfying

$$TM_Z = M_Z T \tag{5.12}$$

$$TM_A^r = M_A^r T, \quad \forall A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}.$$
 (5.13)

Then T is a Schur multiplier.

**Proof.** Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We have from (5.12)

$$TM_{Z^n}A = Z^n T(A), (5.14)$$

and

$$T(A) = T(I_p A) = T(I_p)A.$$
 (5.15)

Thus

$$T\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n\right) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n T(F_n) \qquad (\text{using} \quad (5.12))$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n T(I_p) F_n \qquad (\text{using} \quad (5.13))$$
$$= T(I_n) \star \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n\right) \quad \Box$$

**Theorem 5.8.** Let  $S = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n S_n$  be a Schur multiplier, with  $S_n \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . Then,  $\widetilde{S} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n S_n^*$  is also a Schur multiplier

**Proof.** We proceed in a number of steps.

STEP 1: Assume S be a Schur multiplier. Then the function  $S(zI_p)$  is analytic and contractive in the open unit disk.

Setting  $A = zI_p$  and  $B = wI_p$  in (5.9) with  $z, w \in \mathbb{C}$  we get that the kernel

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n (I_p - S(zI_p)S(I_pw)^*)\overline{w}^n = \frac{I_p - S(zI_p)S(I_pw)^*}{1 - z\overline{w}}$$

is positive definite in the open unit disk (since elements of the form  $zI_p$  with z in the open unit disk  $\mathbb{D}$  are inside  $\mathbb{K}$ ) and so series  $S(zI_p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n S_n$  converges in the open unit disk  $\mathbb{D}$  and is contractive there (and so is a  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued Schur function of the open unit disk).

STEP 2: The operator of multiplication by the function

$$S(\overline{z})^* = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n S_n^*$$
(5.16)

on the right is a contraction from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})^{p \times p}$  into itself (i.e. the function  $S(\overline{z})^*$  is still a  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued Schur function of the open unit disk).

Using the integral representation of the inner product in  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})^{p \times p}$  and since

$$(S(e^{-it})^*)^*S(e^{-it})^* \le I_p, \quad a.e. \text{ on the unit circle } \mathbb{T},$$

we get

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} (f(e^{it}))^* (S(e^{-it})^*)^* S(e^{-it})^* f(e^{it}) dt \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} f(e^{it})^* f(e^{it}) dt$$

where  $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})^{p \times p}$  and where the inequality is between matrices, and so

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}f(e^{it})^{*}(S(e^{-it})^{*})^{*}S(e^{-it})^{*}f(e^{it}dt\right) \leq \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}f(e^{it})^{*}f(e^{it})dt\right),$$

which expresses the asserted contractivity.

STEP 3: The matrix representation of the operator multiplication by the function  $S(\overline{z})^*$ on the right has block matrix representation the block-Toeplitz operator with block matrix representation

$$\begin{pmatrix} S_0^* & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots \\ S_1^* & S_0^* & 0 & \ddots & \cdots \\ S_2^* & S_1^* & S_0^* & 0 & \cdots \\ \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.17)

As in Remark 5.4 this follows from the convolution formula

$$G_n = \sum_{u=0}^n S_u^* F_{n-u}, \quad u = 0, 1, \dots$$

for the coefficients  $G_0, G_1, \ldots \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  of  $S(\overline{z})^* f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n G_n$ , where  $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ .

STEP 4:  $\widetilde{S}$  is Schur multiplier in  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ 

This just follows from (5.8) with the  $S_n^*$  in lieu of the  $S_n$  since the contractivity is expressed in the same way on the level of the coefficients in both cases.  $\Box$ 

# 5.2. Leech theorem

The main results in this section are based on discussions of the authors with Professor Bolotnikov. We thank Professor Bolotnikov for allowing us to include the material presented in this subsection.

**Theorem 5.9.** Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a Hilbert space and let us assume that the operator

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} : \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{X} \\ \mathbb{C}^p \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{X} \\ \mathbb{C}^p \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.18)

is a contraction. Then the power series

$$S(Z) = D + ZC \star (I_{\mathcal{X}} - ZA)^{-\star}B = D + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^{k+1}CA^{k}B$$
(5.19)

is a Schur multiplier. Moreover, the kernel  $K_S$  (5.1) can be expressed as

$$K_S(Z,W) = \Gamma(Z)\Gamma(W)^* + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Lambda_k(Z)(I - UU^*)\Lambda_k(W)^*$$
(5.20)

where

$$\Gamma(Z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k C A^k \quad and \quad \Lambda_k(Z) = Z^k \left( Z \Gamma(Z) \quad I_p \right).$$
(5.21)

**Proof.** Since U is a contraction, A is bounded by 1 in norm, and the  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{C}^p)$ -valued power series  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^n C A^n$  converges in norm for each  $Z \in \mathbb{K}$ . It follows from (5.19) and (5.21) that

$$\Gamma(Z) = C + Z\Gamma(Z)A, \quad S(Z) = D + ZC\Gamma(Z)B$$

and subsequently,

$$\Lambda_k(Z)U = Z^k \left( \Gamma(Z) \quad S(Z) \right).$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(Z)\Gamma(W)^* &+ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Lambda_k(Z)(I - UU^*)\Lambda_k(W)^* \\ &= \Gamma(Z)\Gamma(W)^* + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k \left( I_p + Z\Gamma(Z)\Gamma(W)^*W^* \right) W^{*k} \\ &- \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k \left( \Gamma(Z)\Gamma(W)^* + S(Z)S(W)^* \right) W^{*k} \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k \left( I_p - S(Z)S(W)^* \right) W^{*k} = K_S(Z,W) \end{split}$$

which confirms (5.20). Since the kernel on the right side of (5.20) is positive on  $\mathbb{K}$ , the proof is complete.  $\Box$ 

Our next result is Leech's factorization theorem in the present setting.

**Theorem 5.10.** Given two power series P(Z) and Q(Z), the following are equivalent:

(1) There is a Schur multiplier S(Z) such that

$$Q(Z) = (P \star S)(Z) \quad for \ all \quad Z \in \mathbb{K}.$$
(5.22)

(2) The kernel

$$K_{P,Q}(Z,W) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k (P(Z)P(W)^* - Q(Z)Q(W)^*) W^{*k}$$
(5.23)

is positive on  $\mathbb{K}$ .

**Proof.** One direction is easy: if (5.22) holds for some

$$S(Z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^k S_k,$$

then for every  $Z, W \in \mathbb{K}$  and any  $n \ge 0$ , we have  $Z^n P(z) = P(Z) \star Z^n$  and

$$Z^{n}Q(Z) = Z^{n}(P \star S)(Z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^{n+k}P(Z)S_{k} = P(Z) \star (Z^{n}S(Z)),$$

and subsequently,

$$K_{P,Q}(Z,W) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n (P(Z)P(W)^* - Q(Z)Q(W)^*)W^{*n}$$
  
=  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P(Z) \star (Z^n W^{*n} - Z^n S(Z)S(W)^* W^{*n}) \star_r P(W)^*$   
=  $P(Z) \star K_S(Z,W) \star_r P(W)^*,$ 

and the latter kernel is positive, as is seen on translating the above equality on the level of the coefficients; see [11, Proposition 5.3 p. 855] for a similar argument for quaternionic kernels.

Conversely, let us assume that the kernel (5.23) is positive on  $\mathbb{K}$ . Then (see e.g. [50]) it admits a Kolmogorov factorization, i.e., there exists a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{X}$  and an  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{C}^p)$ valued power series H(Z) converging weakly for all  $Z \in \mathbb{K}$  such that

$$K_{P,Q}(Z,W) = H(Z)H(W)^* \quad \text{for all} \quad Z,W \in \mathbb{K}.$$
(5.24)

Combining the latter identity with (5.23) we conclude that

$$H(Z)H(Z)^* - ZH(Z)H(W)^*W^* = P(Z)P(W)^* - Q(Z)Q(W)^*$$
(5.25)

for all  $Z, W \in \mathbb{K}$ . The latter identity tells us that the linear map

$$V: \begin{pmatrix} H(W)^*W^*x\\P(W)^*x \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} H(W)^*x\\Q(W)^*x \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.26)

extends by linearity and continuity to an isometry (still denoted by V) from

$$\mathcal{D}_{V} = \bigvee_{W \in \mathbb{K}, x \in \mathbb{C}^{p}} \begin{pmatrix} H(W)^{*}W^{*}x \\ P(W)^{*}x \end{pmatrix} \subset \mathcal{X} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p} \quad \text{onto}$$
$$\mathcal{R}_{V} = \bigvee_{W \in \mathbb{K}, x \in \mathbb{C}^{p}} \begin{pmatrix} H(W)^{*}x \\ Q(W)^{*}x \end{pmatrix} \subset \mathcal{X} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p}.$$

Let us extend V to a contraction

$$\widehat{V} = \begin{pmatrix} A^* & C^* \\ B^* & D^* \end{pmatrix} \colon \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{X} \\ \mathbb{C}^p \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{X} \\ \mathbb{C}^p \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} A^* & C^* \\ B^* & D^* \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H(W)^* W^* x \\ P(W)^* x \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} H(W)^* x \\ Q(W)^* x \end{pmatrix},$$

from which it follows that

$$A^{*}H(W)^{*}W^{*}x + C^{*}P(W)^{*}x = H(W)^{*}x, \qquad (5.27)$$

$$B^*H(W)^*W^*x + D^*P(W)^*x = Q(W)^*x.$$
(5.28)

Since A is a contraction, we recover  $H(W)^*x$  from (5.27) as

$$H(W)^* x = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{*n} C^* P(W)^* W^* x.$$

Substituting the latter representation into (5.28) gives

$$Q(W)x = D^*P(W)^*x + B^*\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{*n}C^*P(W)^*W^{*(n+1)}x.$$

Taking adjoints and using the arbitrariness of  $x\in \mathbb{C}^p$  we get

$$Q(W) = P(W)D + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} W^{n+1}P(W)CA^{n}B$$
$$= P(W) \star \left(D + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} W^{n+1}CA^{n}B\right)$$
(5.29)

holding for all  $W \in \mathbb{K}$ . The formula

$$S(W) = D + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} W^{n+1} C A^n B$$

defines a Schur multiplier by Theorem 5.9. On the other hand, equality (5.29) means that (5.22) is in force.  $\Box$ 

# 5.3. The coisometric realization

We associate to every Schur multiplier a co-isometric realization with state space the reproducing kernel Hilbert space module  $\mathcal{H}(S)$  with reproducing kernel  $K_S(A, B)$ . The complex-variable case was first developed, using complementation theory by de Branges and Rovnyak in [33]. Here, we use the theory of linear relations as applied in [18] for the complex-variable setting and in [22, §5] for the time-varying case.

We consider the linear relation  $\mathcal{R} \subset (\mathcal{H}(S) \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}) \times (\mathcal{H}(S)) \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  spanned by the pairs

$$\left( \begin{pmatrix} K_S(\cdot, A)A^*G \\ H \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} (K_S(\cdot, A) - K_S(\cdot, 0))G + K_S(\cdot, 0)H \\ (S(A)^* - S(0)^*)A^*G + S(0)^*H \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

when A runs through  $\mathbb{K}$  and G, H run through  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ .

**Proposition 5.11.**  $\mathcal{R}$  is densely defined and isometric, and thus extends to the graph of an everywhere defined isometry from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}) \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  into itself.

**Proof.** Let

$$\left( \begin{pmatrix} K_S(\cdot, B)B^*E\\F \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} (K_S(\cdot, B) - K_S(\cdot, 0))E + K_S(\cdot, 0)H\\(S(B)^* - S(0)^*)E + S(0)^*F \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

be another element of  $\mathcal{R}$ , with  $B \in \mathbb{K}$  and  $E, F \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . We want to show that

$$\langle K_{S}(\cdot, B)B^{*}E, K_{S}(\cdot, A)A^{*}G\rangle_{S} + \operatorname{Tr} H^{*}F = = \langle (K_{S}(\cdot, B) - K_{S}(\cdot, 0))E + K_{S}(\cdot, 0)F, (K_{S}(\cdot, A) - K_{S}(\cdot, 0))G + K_{S}(\cdot, 0)H\rangle_{S} + + \operatorname{Tr}((S(B)^{*} - S(0)^{*})E + S(0)^{*}F)^{*}((S(A)^{*} - S(0)^{*})G + S(0)^{*}H).$$

Considering the  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued forms associated to the inner products, the above equality can be rewritten in the form

$$G^* \Box_1 E + G^* \Box_2 F + H^* \Box_3 E + H^* \Box_4 F = 0,$$

for appropriate expressions  $\Box_j$ , j = 1, 2, 3, 4 which we now show to be equal to 0. We have

$$\Box_{1} = -AK_{S}(A, B)B^{*} + K(A, B) - K_{S}(A, 0) - K_{S}(0, B) + K_{S}(0, 0) + (S(A) - S(0))(S(B)^{*} - S(0)^{*}) = I_{p} - S(A)S(B)^{*} - (I_{p} - S(A)S(0)^{*}) - (I_{p} - S(0)S(B)^{*}) + (I_{p} - S(0)S(0)^{*}) + + S(A)S(B)^{*} - S(A)S(0)^{*} - S(0)S(B)^{*} + S(0)S(0)^{*} = 0,$$

where we have used (5.9) to go from the first equality to the second one.

Similarly

$$\Box_2 = K_S(A,0) - K_S(0,0) + (S(A) - S(0))S(0)^*$$
  
=  $I_p - S(A)S(0)^* - I_p + S(0)S(0)^* + S(A)S(0)^* - S(0)S(0)^*$   
= 0,

and

$$\Box_3 = K_S(0, B) - K_S(0, 0) + S(0)(S(B)^* - S(0)^*)$$
  
=  $I_p - S(0)S(B)^* - I_p + S(0)S(0)^* + S(0)S(B)^* - S(0)S(0)^*$   
= 0.

As for  $\Box_4$  one has:

$$\Box_4 = -I_p + K_S(0,0) + S(0)S(0)^* = 0.$$

To conclude we prove that the domain of  $\mathcal{R}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}(S) \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . Any element  $\begin{pmatrix} F \\ C \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}(S) \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  orthogonal to the domain of  $\mathcal{R}$  will satisfy

$$\operatorname{Tr}(G^*AF(A) + H^*C) = 0.$$

Letting G = 0 and H run through  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  we get C = 0. We thus have  $\operatorname{Tr}(G^*AF(A) = 0$  for all  $G \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ , and so AF(A) = 0 and so  $aF(aI_p) = 0$  for all a near the origin and so that F = 0.  $\Box$ 

We write the isometry whose graph extends  $\mathcal{R}$  in the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{T} & \mathscr{F} \\ \mathscr{G} & \mathscr{H} \end{pmatrix}^*,$$

that is

$$\mathscr{T}^* \left( K_S(\cdot, A) A^* G \right) = \left( K_S(\cdot, A) - K_S(\cdot, 0) \right) G \tag{5.30}$$

$$\mathscr{F}^*(K_S(\cdot, A)A^*G) = (S(A)^* - S(0)^*)G$$
(5.31)

$$\mathscr{G}^*H = K_S(\cdot, 0)H \tag{5.32}$$

$$\mathscr{H}^*H = S(0)^*H. \tag{5.33}$$

**Proposition 5.12.** Let  $F \in \mathcal{H}(S)$ ,  $A \in \mathbb{K}$  and  $G \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . It holds that

$$A(\mathscr{T}F)(A) = F(A) - F(0) \tag{5.34}$$

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$A(\mathscr{F}G)(A) = (S(A) - S(0))G.$$
(5.35)

$$\mathscr{G}F = F(0), \tag{5.36}$$

$$\mathscr{H}H = S(0)H. \tag{5.37}$$

**Proof.** Apply both sides of (5.30) to F to obtain

$$\langle F, \mathscr{T}^* \left( K_S(\cdot, A) A^* G \right) \rangle_S = \langle F, K_S(\cdot, A) - K_S(\cdot, 0) \rangle_S, \tag{5.38}$$

that is

$$G^*A(\mathscr{T}F)(A) = G^*(F(A) - F(0)). \quad \Box$$

**Theorem 5.13.** Let S be a Schur multiplier. In the above notation we have

$$S(A)G = \mathscr{H}G + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{n+1}\mathscr{G}\mathscr{T}^n\mathscr{F}(G), \quad G \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}.$$
(5.39)

**Proof.** Let  $C_A$  denote evaluation at  $A \in \mathbb{K}$ . Equation (5.34) gives

$$C_A = C_0 + A C_A \mathscr{T}$$

from which we get

$$C_A = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n C_0 \mathscr{T}^n$$

which converges in  $\mathcal{H}(S)$  in the operator norm. Applying to  $F = \mathscr{F}G$  we obtain

$$(\mathscr{F}G(A)) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n C_0 \mathscr{T}^{n+1} \mathscr{F}G,$$

and so

$$A(\mathscr{F}G(A)) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{n+1}C_0 \mathscr{T}^{n+1} \mathscr{F}G,$$

i.e.

$$S(A)G - S(0)G = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{n+1}C_0 \mathscr{T}^{n+1} \mathscr{F}G.$$

This concludes the proof since  $C_0 = \mathscr{G}$  and  $S(0) = \mathscr{H}$ .  $\Box$ 

# 5.4. Operator ranges and complementation

In this section we give another proof of the realization theorem for Schur multipliers using complementation theory and the theory of operator ranges. We refer to [41, §4] and [55] for the latter. Similar arguments for the time-varying setting can be found in [22], and in [9] for the quaternionic setting. We first recall a well-known result on operator ranges. We provide a proof for completeness.

**Theorem 5.14.** Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be a Hilbert space and let A be a bounded positive operator from  $\mathfrak{H}$  into itself. Let  $\pi$  denote the orthogonal projection onto ker A. Then the space ran  $\sqrt{A}$  endowed with the norm (called the range norm)

$$\|\sqrt{A}h\|_{\operatorname{ran}\sqrt{A}} = \|(I_{\mathfrak{H}} - \pi)h\|_{\mathfrak{H}}, \quad h \in \mathfrak{H},$$
(5.40)

is a Hilbert space. Furthermore,

$$\|Ah\|_{\operatorname{ran}\sqrt{A}} = \|\sqrt{A}h\|_{\mathfrak{H}}, \quad h \in \mathfrak{H},$$
(5.41)

and the range of A is dense in the range of  $\sqrt{A}$  in this norm. Finally in the associated inner product it holds that

$$\langle \sqrt{A}h, \sqrt{A}g \rangle_{\operatorname{ran}\sqrt{A}} = \langle (I_{\mathfrak{H}} - \pi)h, g \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}$$
 (5.42)

$$\langle Ah, Ag \rangle_{\operatorname{ran}\sqrt{A}} = \langle Ah, g \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}$$
 (5.43)

and

$$\langle Ah, \sqrt{A}g \rangle_{\operatorname{ran}\sqrt{A}} = \langle \sqrt{A}h, g \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}$$
 (5.44)

for  $h, g \in \mathfrak{H}$ .

**Proof.** That (5.40) is indeed a norm follows from

$$\sqrt{Ah} = 0 \quad \iff \pi h = h$$

Let now a Cauchy sequence  $(\sqrt{A}h_n)$  in ran  $\sqrt{A}$ . Then  $(I_{\mathfrak{H}} - \pi)h_n$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $\mathfrak{H}$  converging to an element, say k. We have by continuity of  $\pi$  that  $k = (I_{\mathfrak{H}} - \pi)k$ and so  $\sqrt{A}h_n$ ) has limit  $\sqrt{A}k$  and ran  $\sqrt{A}$  is closed in the range norm. Formula (5.42) follows from (5.40) by polarization. The last two formulas follow from

$$A(I_{\mathfrak{H}} - \pi) = A. \quad \Box$$

We now recall the operator range characterization from [41] which we will use. Note that [41] consider one Hilbert space and we consider two possibly different Hilbert spaces,

but the proof is the same for the latter case. Theorem 5.15 below is [41, Theorem 4.1 p. 275] with  $\sqrt{I_{55} - TT^*}$  rather than T. We present a proof since the passage from one to the other involves *a priori* polar representations. We give a direct proof, explicitly adapted from [41]. See also [9] where it is presented in the quaternionic setting.

**Theorem 5.15.** Let T be a contraction from the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{G}$  into the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then,  $f \in \operatorname{ran} \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^*}$  if and only if

$$\sup_{g \in \mathfrak{G}} \left( \|f + Tg\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^2 - \|g\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^2 \right) < \infty.$$
(5.45)

**Proof.** As mentioned above, the proof is directly adapted from the proof of [41, Theorem 4.1 p. 275] with  $\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^*}$  rather than T. We have for  $g \in \mathfrak{G}$  and  $h \in \mathfrak{H}$ 

$$\begin{split} \|\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^{*}}h + Tg\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^{2} &= \\ &= \|\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^{*}}h\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^{2} + \|Tg\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^{2} - \|g\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^{*}}h, Tg\rangle_{\mathfrak{H}} - \|g\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^{2} \\ &= \|h\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^{2} - \|T^{*}h\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle T^{*}h, \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^{*}T}g\rangle_{\mathfrak{G}} - \|\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^{*}T}g\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^{2} \\ &= \|h\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^{2} - \|T^{*}h - \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^{*}T}g\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^{2} \\ &\leq \|h\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^{2} \end{split}$$

Conversely, let  $f \in \mathfrak{H}$  such that the supremum in (5.45) is finite, and denote it by K. The choice g = 0 in (5.45) gives  $||u||_{\mathfrak{H}}^2 \leq K$ . We can write

$$\|f + Tg\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^2 \leq K + \|g\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^2, \quad \forall g \in \mathfrak{G}$$

and so

$$2\text{Re}\,\langle f, Tg \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}} \le K - \|u\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^2 + \|g\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^2 - \|Tg\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^2 \tag{5.46}$$

If  $\langle f, Tg \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}} = 0$ , this inequality is trivial. If  $\langle f, Tg \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}} \neq 0$  and replace g by  $tge^{i\theta}$  where  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$  is chosen such that

$$e^{-i\theta}\langle f, Tg\rangle_{\mathfrak{H}} = |\langle f, Tg\rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}|.$$

Using the previous equality for every g we rewrite (5.46) as

$$2t|\langle f, Tg_1\rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}| \leq K - \|f\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^2 + t^2 \|\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}g_1\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^2, \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall g_1 \in \mathfrak{H}.$$

It follows that

$$0 \le t^2 \|\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}g_1\|_{\mathfrak{G}}^2 - 2t|\langle f, Tg_1 \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}| + K - \|f\|_{\mathfrak{H}}^2, \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \ \forall g_1 \in \mathfrak{H}.$$

Thus

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$|\langle f, Tg_1 \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}| \leq \sqrt{K - \|f\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2} \left( \|\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}g_1\|_{\mathfrak{G}} \right).$$

By Theorem 5.14 we have

$$\|\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}g_1\|_{\mathfrak{G}} = \|(I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T)g_1\|_{\operatorname{ran}\left(I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T\right)}$$

and since the range of  $I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T$  is dense in the range of  $\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}$  in the range norm, the map  $g_1 \mapsto \langle Tg_1, u \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}}$  is continuous on the range of  $\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}$ . By Riesz representation theorem for continuous linear functionals on a Hilbert space there exists  $r \in \mathfrak{H}$  such that

$$\langle Tg_1, u \rangle_{\mathfrak{H}} = \langle (I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T)g_1, \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}r \rangle_{\operatorname{ran}\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}} \\ = \langle \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}g_1, r \rangle_{\mathfrak{G}}$$

as follows from (5.44). It follows that  $T^*f = \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}r$ . So

$$f = f - TT^*f + TT^*f$$
$$= (I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^*)f + T\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - T^*T}r$$
$$= (I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^*)f + \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{G}} - TT^*}r$$

belongs to ran  $\sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{H}} - TT^*}$ .  $\Box$ 

We now apply the previous results to our present setting.

Proposition 5.16. It holds that

$$\mathcal{H}(S) = \left\{ G \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}) ; \sup_{H \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} \|G + M_S H\|_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})}^2 - \|H\|_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})}^2 < \infty \right\}$$

and the above supremum is then the norm of G in  $\mathcal{H}(S)$ .

**Proof.** This is Theorem 5.15 with  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  and  $T = M_S$ .  $\Box$ 

Proposition 5.17. It holds that

$$\mathcal{H}(S) = \operatorname{ran} \sqrt{I_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - M_S M_S^*}$$
(5.47)

with the operator range norm

$$\|\sqrt{I_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - M_S M_S^*}F\| = \|(I_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - \pi)F\|_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})}$$

where  $\pi$  is the orthogonal projection onto ker  $\sqrt{I_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - M_S M_S^*}$ .

**Proof.** This is Theorem 5.14 with  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  and  $T = M_S$ .  $\Box$ 

# Theorem 5.18.

$$\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K}) = \operatorname{ran} M_{S} + \operatorname{ran} \sqrt{I_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})} - M_{S} M_{S}^{*}}$$
(5.48)

in the sense of complementation.

# 5.5. Another approach to the co-isometric realization

We study the co-isometric realization of a Schur multiplier using the results of the previous section, that is, using complementation theory. See [22] for similar computations in the time-varying setting. Recall that  $R_0$  was defined in (2.14).

**Proposition 5.19.** Let  $F \in \mathcal{H}(S)$ . Then,  $R_0F \in \mathcal{H}(S)$  and

$$||R_0 F||^2_{\mathcal{H}(S)} \le ||F||^2_{\mathcal{H}(S)} - ||F(0)^* F(0)||$$
(5.49)

Let  $C \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . Then,  $R_0SC \in \mathcal{H}(S)$  and

$$||R_0(SC)||^2_{\mathcal{H}(S)} \le \operatorname{Tr} \left( C(I_p - S(0)S(0)^*)C^* \right).$$
(5.50)

**Proof.** Let  $G \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \|R_0F + M_SG\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} &= \|M_Z(R_0F + M_SG)\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - \|G\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} \\ &= \|F - F_0 + M_SZG)\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - \|G\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} \\ &= \|-F_0\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - 2\operatorname{re}\langle F_0, F + M_SZG\rangle_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} + \\ &+ \underbrace{\|F + M_SZG\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})} - \|ZG\|^2_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})}}_{\leq \|F\|^2_{\mathcal{H}(S)}} \\ &\leq \|F\|^2_{\mathcal{H}(S)} - \|F_0F_0^*\|_{\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly

$$\begin{aligned} \|R_{0}(SC) + M_{S}G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} \\ &= \|M_{Z}(R_{0}(SC + M_{S}G)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} \\ &= \|SC - S_{0}C + M_{S}(ZG)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} \\ &= \| - S_{0}C + M_{S}(C + ZG)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} \\ &= \| - S_{0}C\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle -S_{0}C, M_{S}(C + ZG)\rangle_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} + \\ &+ \|M_{S}(C + ZG)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|M_{Z}G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} \\ &= \|S_{0}C\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - 2\|S_{0}C\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} + \|M_{S}(C + ZG)\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} \\ &\leq -\|S_{0}C\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} + \|C + ZG\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|G\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} \\ &= \|C\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2} - \|S_{0}C\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{K})}^{2}. \quad \Box \end{aligned}$$

## 5.6. A structure theorem

An important aspect of the theory of de Branges and de Branges-Rovnyak spaces (see [31–33]) is the weakening of isometric inclusion to contractive inclusion, and the associated notion of complementation, which replaces orthogonal sum. The results involve matrix-valued, or more generally operator-valued functions. For example (see [19, p. 24]) the function

$$s(z) = (c_1 s_1(z) \quad c_2 s_2(z) \quad \cdots \quad c_N s_N(z))$$

where  $s_1, \ldots, s_N$  are inner functions (for instance finite Blaschke products) and  $c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_N$  are complex numbers such that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} |c_n|^2 = 1$$

is such that

$$\frac{1-s(z)s(w)^*}{1-z\overline{w}} = \sum_{n=1}^N |c_n|^2 \frac{1-s_n(z)\overline{s_n(w)}}{1-z\overline{w}},$$

and the associated reproducing kernel Hilbert space will, in general, be only contractively included in the Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})$ .

We also remark that in the theory of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces, complementation and contractive inclusion correspond to the older results on the reproducing kernel Hilbert space associated to a sum of positive definite functions; see [26, p. 353], [47]. In Section 6 this problem is avoided by assuming that one starts with a power series to begin with.

In this section we replace the inequality

$$||R_0F||_{\mathfrak{M}}^2 = ||F||_{\mathfrak{M}}^2 - ||F(0)||^2$$

which characterizes isometric inclusion in  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ , by the inequality

$$||R_0F||_{\mathfrak{M}}^2 \le ||F||_{\mathfrak{M}}^2 - ||F(0)||^2.$$
(5.51)

So, we wish to study the structure of  $R_0$ -invariant subspaces contractively included in  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ . We follow the arguments in the proof of [18, Theorem 3.1.2 p. 85], suitably adapted to the present situation. First note that (5.51) can be rewritten as

$$R_0^* R_0 + C^* C \le I_{\mathfrak{M}}.$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} R_0 \\ C \end{pmatrix}^* \begin{pmatrix} R_0 \\ C \end{pmatrix} \le I_{\mathfrak{M}}.$$

Since the adjoint of a Hilbert space contraction is a Hilbert space contraction we can write

$$\begin{pmatrix} R_0 \\ C \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} R_0 \\ C \end{pmatrix}^* \leq I_{\mathfrak{M} \oplus \mathbb{C}^p}.$$

Let  $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{M} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  and let  $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{M})$  and  $D \in \mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  be defined by

$$\begin{pmatrix} B\\ D \end{pmatrix} = \sqrt{I_{\mathfrak{M} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}} - \begin{pmatrix} R_0\\ C \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} R_0\\ C \end{pmatrix}^*}$$

Then,

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} R_0 & G \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \mathfrak{M} \oplus \mathfrak{H} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{H} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$$

is co-isometric. We define

$$S = D + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Z^n C R_0^{n-1} G.$$

Note that S is  $\mathcal{L}(\mathfrak{H}, \mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ -valued and that S(A) makes sense for all  $A \in \mathbb{K}$  as a converging series in the operator norm topology

**Remark 5.20.** When  $Z = \lambda I_p$  the function S coincides with the characteristic function of the colligation M; see e.g. [18, p. 16].

Following [24, p. 38], we associate to S the (possibly unbounded and not everywhere defined) multiplication operator  $M_S$  now from  $\ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathfrak{H})$  into  $\mathfrak{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  by

$$M_S(h) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \left( Dh_n + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} CR_0^{n-1-j} Gh_j \right), \quad h = (h_j)_{j=0}^{\infty} \in \ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathfrak{H}).$$
(5.52)

**Theorem 5.21.**  $M_S$  is a contraction from  $\ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathfrak{H})$  into  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  if and only if the kernel (5.3) (now computed for the current operator-valued S) is positive definite in  $\mathbb{K}$ .

**Proof.** We have (using the co-isometry of M)

$$\begin{split} I_p - S(A)S(B)^* &= \underbrace{I_p - DD^*}_{CC^*} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A^n CR_0^{n-1}GD^* - \\ &- \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \underbrace{DG^*}_{-CR_0^*} R_0^{*(m-1)}C^*B^{*m} - \sum_{n,m=1}^{\infty} A^n CR_0^{n-1}GG^*R_0^{*(m-1)}C^*B^{*m} \\ &= CC^* + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A^n CR_0^{n-1}R_0C^* + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} CR_0^*R_0^{*(m-1)}C^*B^{*m} - \\ &- \sum_{n,m=1}^{\infty} A^n CR_0^{n-1}(I - R_0R_0^*)R_0^{*(m-1)}C^*B^{*m} \\ &= \underbrace{CC^*}_{\substack{def. 1}} + \underbrace{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A^n CR_0^n C^*}_{\substack{def. 2}} + \underbrace{\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} CR_0^{*m}C^*B^{*m}}_{\substack{def. 3}} + \\ &+ \underbrace{\sum_{n,m=1}^{\infty} A^n CR_0^n R_0^{*m}C^*B^{*m}}_{\substack{def. 3}} - \underbrace{\sum_{n,m=1}^{\infty} A^n CR_0^{n-1}R_0^{*(m-1)}C^*B^{*m}}_{\substack{def. 5} \\ &= 1 + 2 + 3 + 4 - 5 \end{split}$$

so that

$$I_p - S(A)S(B)^* = \underbrace{\sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} A^n C R_0^n R_0^{*m} C^* B^{*m}}_{\mathbf{1+2+3+4}} - \underbrace{\sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} A^{n+1} C R_0^n R_0^{*m} C^* B^{*(m+1)}}_{\mathbf{5}}$$
(5.53)

Define now

$$K(A,B) = \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n C R_0^n\right) \left(\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} B^m C R_0^m\right)^* = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} A^n C R_0^n R_0^{*m} C^* B^{*m}$$

Then K(A, B) is positive definite and

$$K(A,B) - AK(A,B)B^* = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} A^n C R_0^n R_0^{*m} C^* B^{*m} - \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} A^{n+1} C R_0^n R_0^{*m} C^* B^{*(m+1)}$$
$$= I - S(A)S(B)^*$$

by (5.53), and so

$$K(A,B) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n (I_p - S(A)S(B)^*)B^{*n},$$
(5.54)

which is (5.3), but now with S operator-valued. To prove that  $M_S$  is a contraction we adapt the proof of Theorem 5.3 as follows. Recall that  $S(A)^*$  is a bounded operator from  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  into  $\mathfrak{H}$ . The linear relation (5.4) is now a linear subspace of  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}) \times \ell_2(\mathbb{N}_0, \mathfrak{H})$  spanned by the pairs

$$(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n A^{*n} C, (S(A)^* A^{*n} C)_{n=0}^{\infty}).$$

The positivity of (5.54) implies that this linear relation extends to the graph of a contraction, whose adjoint is  $M_S$ .

The converse statement is a direct computation.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 5.22.** For  $A = aI_p$  and  $B = bI_p$  the function K(A, B) reduces to formulas given in [18, Theorem 2.1.2 p. 44 and p. 97].

**Remark 5.23.** Besides the scalar case  $A = aI_p$  with  $a \in \mathbb{C}$ , we do not know if and when the positivity of the kernel (5.54) implies that S(A) is a contraction. The counterpart of this question in the quaternionic setting has a negative answer in the matrix-valued case; see [12, (62.38) p. 1767]. We adapt the example from the latter publication to the present setting to find a counterexample for multipliers of  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$ . We consider  $(\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}))^2$ . Multipliers are elements  $S = (S_{uv})_{u,v=1,2}$  of  $(\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}))^{2\times 2}$  such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n \left( I_{2p} - \begin{pmatrix} S_{11}(A) & S_{12}(A) \\ S_{21}(A) & S_{22}(A) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} (S_{11}(B))^* & (S_{21}(B))^* \\ (S_{12}(B))^* & (S_{22}(B))^* \end{pmatrix} \right) B^{*n}$$

is positive definite in K. Let  $p \ge 2$  and  $J \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  be such that  $J^* = -J$  and  $J^2 = -I_p$ (for instance, if p = 2,  $J = i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$ ). Let

$$S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} Z & J \\ ZJ & I \end{pmatrix}$$

(compare with [12, (62.38) p. 1767]), and let

D. Alpay, I. Cho / Linear Algebra and its Applications 698 (2024) 344-405

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \begin{pmatrix} A_n \\ B_n \end{pmatrix} \in (\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}))^2.$$

Then,

$$\begin{aligned} (\sqrt{2}S) \star F &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} Z^{n+1}A_n + Z^n JB_n \\ Z^{n+1} JA_n + Z^n B_n \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} JB_0 \\ B_0 \end{pmatrix} + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Z^{2k+1} \begin{pmatrix} A_{2k} + JB_{2k+1} \\ JA_{2k} + B_{2k+1} \end{pmatrix} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} Z^{2k} \begin{pmatrix} A_{2k-1} + JB_{2k} \\ JA_{2k-1} + B_{2k} \end{pmatrix}. \end{aligned}$$

Since

$$(A_{2k} + JB_{2k+1})^* (A_{2k} + JB_{2k+1}) + (JA_{2k} + B_{2k+1})^* (JA_{2k} + B_{2k+1}) =$$
  
=  $A_{2k}^* A_{2k} + B_{2k+1}^* B_{2k+1} - B_{2k+1}^* JA_{2k} + B_{2k+1}^* JA_{2k}$   
=  $A_{2k}^* A_{2k} + B_{2k+1}^* B_{2k+1}$ 

and similarly

$$(A_{2k-1} + JB_{2k})^* (A_{2k-1} + JB_{2k}) + (JA_{2k-1} + B_{2k})^* (JA_{2k-1} + B_{2k}) =$$
$$= A_{2k-1}^* A_{2k-1} + B_{2k}^* B_{2k}$$

we have

$$[S \star F, S \star F]_{(\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}))^2} = [F, F]^2_{(\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K}))^2},$$

and so S is a Schur multiplier. But

$$I_{2p} - S(A)S(A)^* = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} I_p - AA^* & AJA^* - J \\ AJA^* - J & I_p - AA^* \end{pmatrix}$$

which is not positive for A unitary such that  $AJA^* \neq J$  (we need  $p \geq 2$  for ensure this); take for instance  $A = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  and J as above.

# 6. Carathéodory multipliers

Closely related to Schur functions are Carathéodory functions, that is, functions analytic in the open unit disk and with a positive real part there. In [51], see also the collection of papers [46], Herglotz gave an integral representation of such functions. A function  $\varphi$  is a Carathéodory function if and only if it can be written as

$$\varphi(z) = im + \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{e^{is} + z}{e^{is} - z} d\mu(s), \quad z \in \mathbb{D},$$
(6.1)

where  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and where  $\mu$  is a positive measure on  $[0, 2\pi)$ . Note that (6.1) can be rewritten as

$$\varphi(z) = im + \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\mu(s) + 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z^{n} t_{n}$$
(6.2)

where

$$t_n = \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{-ins} d\mu(s), \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$
 (6.3)

is the moment sequence associated to  $d\mu$ .

In terms of kernels, a function  $\varphi$  defined on a subset of the open unit disk which possesses an accumulation point in  $\mathbb{D}$  is the restriction to  $\Omega$  of a (uniquely defined) Carathéodory function if and only if the kernel

$$\frac{\varphi(z) + \overline{\varphi(w)}}{1 - z\overline{w}} \tag{6.4}$$

is positive definite in  $\Omega$ . Note that (6.4) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{\varphi(z) + \overline{\varphi(w)}}{1 - z\overline{w}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n (\varphi(z) + \overline{\varphi(w)}) \overline{w}^n.$$

**Remark 6.1.** We note that  $\varphi$  need not be bounded in modulus in the open unit disk. Then (and only then), the operator of multiplication by  $\varphi$  will not be a bounded operator from the Hardy space into itself.

The previous discussion motivates the following definition:

**Definition 6.2.** A  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued function  $\Phi$  defined in  $\mathbb{K}$  is called a Carathéodory multiplier if the kernel

$$K_{\Phi}(A,B) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n (\Phi(A) + \Phi(B)^*) B^{*n}$$
(6.5)

is positive definite on  $\mathbb{K}$ .

In this section we prove a realization theorem similar to (6.1) for such functions, in two different ways:

(1) The first approach reduces the study to the complex setting, and does not require that the function  $\Phi(A)$ , or more generally, that the operator  $M_{\Phi}$  of  $\star$ -multiplication on the left be a bounded operator from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself. (2) The second approach will require this latter hypothesis. Then,  $\Phi$  is a power series in Z with matrix coefficients on the right, and converging in  $\mathbb{K}$ , i.e.  $\Phi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \Phi_n$ . As just mentioned above, in the classical setting, this hypothesis is not necessary.

Rather than stating the theorem and proving it afterwards, we here prefer to go the other way around, and begin with a discussion and results which lead to the result. The result itself is presented in Theorem 6.3 below. So let us start from a function  $\Phi$  for which the kernel (6.5) is positive definite in  $\mathbb{K}$ , and set  $\Psi(a) = \Phi(aI_p)$  with  $a \in \mathbb{D}$ . The kernel

$$\frac{\Psi(a) + \Psi(b)^*}{1 - a\overline{b}} \tag{6.6}$$

is positive definite in the open unit disk. By the matrix version of Herglotz representation theorem (see e.g. [34, Theorem 4.5 p. 23] for the operator-valued version), we can write

$$\Psi(a) = iX + \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{e^{it} + z}{e^{it} - z} dM(t)$$

where  $X \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  is self-adjoint and where M is now a  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued positive measure on  $[0, 2\pi)$ . This formula can be rewritten as

$$\Psi(a) = iX + T_0 + 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a^n T_n$$
(6.7)

where  $(T_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  is the moment sequence associated to dM. We claim that (recall that  $\Phi$  is assumed to be a power series in Z with matrix coefficients on the right, converging in  $\mathbb{K}$ )

$$\Phi(A) = iX + T_0 + 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A^n T_n, \quad A \in \mathbb{K}.$$
(6.8)

Indeed, let  $\tilde{\Phi}$  denote the right hand side of (6.8). Both  $\tilde{\Phi}$  and  $\Phi$  coincide on the matrices  $aI_p, a \in \mathbb{D}$ , and this restriction completely determines the coefficients  $T_n$ . Thus we have proved one direction in the following result. The converse direction is easily proved and will be omitted.

**Theorem 6.3.** Let  $\Phi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \Phi_n$  be a power series in Z with matrix coefficients on the right, converging in  $\mathbb{K}$  and assume  $\Phi_0 = \Phi_0^*$ . Then the kernel

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n (\Phi(A) + \Phi(B)^*) B^{*n}$$

is positive definite in  $\mathbb{K}$  if and only if the sequence  $(\Phi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  is the moment sequence of a positive  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ -valued measure on  $[0, 2\pi)$ .

We note that the method used here, different from the one we used to characterize Schur multiplier, is not intrinsic, in the sense that we do not use the reproducing kernel Hilbert space with reproducing kernel (6.5). Denoting this space by  $\mathcal{L}(\Phi)$ , one can also characterize  $\Phi$  in terms of the associated backward-shift realization, assuming the operator  $M_{\Phi}$  bounded from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself.

**Theorem 6.4.** Assume that  $M_{\Phi}$  is bounded from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself, and let  $\mathcal{L}(\Phi)$  denote the reproducing kernel space with reproducing kernel  $K_{\Phi}$ . Then  $\operatorname{Re} M_{\Phi} \geq 0$  and

$$\mathcal{L}(\Phi) = \operatorname{ran}\sqrt{M_{\Phi} + M_{\Phi}^*} \tag{6.9}$$

with the operator range norm.

The proof follows the arguments of Section 5.4 and will be omitted. The key in the proof is the formula

$$M_{\Phi}^{*}((I - ZB)^{-*}E) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^{n} \Phi(B)^{*}B^{*n}E, \quad B \in \mathbb{K}, \quad E \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p},$$
(6.10)

valid since  $M_{\phi}$  is bounded, and so for  $A, B \in \mathbb{K}$  and  $E, H \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ ,

$$[(M_{\Phi} + M_{\Phi}^{*})((I - ZB)^{-*}E), (I - ZA)^{-*}H]_{\mathcal{L}(\Phi)} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{n} (\Phi(A) + (\Phi(B))^{*})B^{*n}.$$
(6.11)

The second realization theorem is now presented and proved.

**Theorem 6.5.** Assume that the operator  $M_{\phi}$  is bounded from  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  into itself. Then  $R_0$  is a co-isometry from  $\mathcal{L}(\Phi)$  into itself. Furthermore,  $\Phi$  can be written as  $\Phi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \Phi_n$ 

$$\operatorname{Re}\Phi_0 = 2C_0 C_0^* \tag{6.12}$$

$$\Phi_n = C_0 R_0^n C_0^*, \quad n = 1, \dots$$
(6.13)

where  $C_0$  is the evaluation at 0.

**Proof.** We follow the approach from [25, pp. 708-709], suitably adapted to the present setting. We first note that  $K_{\Phi}$  in (6.5) satisfies the equation

$$K_{\Phi}(A, B) - AK_{\Phi}(A, B)B^* = \Phi(A) + (\Phi(B))^*, \quad A, B \in \mathbb{K}.$$
 (6.14)

We then define in  $\mathcal{L}(\Phi) \times \mathcal{L}(\Phi)$  the linear relation  $\mathscr{R}$  spanned by the pairs (which we write as a row rather than column, in opposition to the notation in Section 5.3)

$$(K_{\Phi}(\cdot, B)BE, K_{\Phi}(\cdot, B)E - K_{\Phi}(\cdot, 0)E), \quad B \in \mathbb{K}, \quad E \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p},$$
(6.15)

and divide the rest of the proof into steps.

STEP 1:  $\mathscr{R}$  is isometric.

Indeed, let  $A \in \mathbb{K}$  and  $H \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . We have on the one hand

$$[K_{\Phi}(\cdot, B)BE, K_{\phi}(\cdot, A)AH]_{\mathcal{L}(\Phi)} = H^*AK_{\Phi}(A, B)B^*E, \qquad (6.16)$$

and on the other hand,

$$\begin{split} [K_{\Phi}(\cdot,B)E - K_{\Phi}(\cdot,0)E), K_{\Phi}(\cdot,A)H - K_{\Phi}(\cdot,0)H]_{\mathcal{L}(\Phi)} &= \\ &= H^*K_{\Phi}(A,B)E - H^*K_{\Phi}(A,0)E - H^*K_{\Phi}(0,B)E + H^*K_{\Phi}(0,0)E \\ &= H^*K_{\Phi}(A,B)E - H^*(\Phi(A) + \Phi(0))E - H^*(\Phi(0) + (\Phi(B))^*)E + \\ &+ H^*(\Phi(0) + (\Phi(0))^*)E \\ &= H^*K_{\Phi}(A,B)E - H^*(\Phi(A)E - H^*(\Phi(B))^*E \\ &= H^*\{K_{\Phi}(A,B)E - \Phi(A) - (\Phi(B))^*\}E. \end{split}$$

By (6.14),

$$H^* \{ K_{\Phi}(A, B) E - \Phi(A) - (\Phi(B))^* \} E = H^* A^* K_{\Phi}(A, B) B E,$$

and hence the isometry property holds.

STEP 2: *R* has a dense domain.

Indeed, let  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n$  be orthogonal to the domain of  $\mathscr{R}$ . Then for every B and E as above,  $E^*BF(B) = 0$ . Taking  $B = bI_p$  with  $b \in \mathbb{D}$ , this leads to  $F_n = 0$  for  $n = 0, 1, \ldots$  and so F = 0.

It follows from the first two steps that  $\mathscr{R}$  extends to the graph of an everywhere defined isometry, say T, which we compute in STEP 3.

STEP 3: It holds that  $T^* = R_0$ , and so  $\mathcal{L}(\Phi)$  is  $R_0$ -invariant. Let  $F \in \mathcal{L}(\Phi)$ , and B, E as above. We have

$$E^*BF(B) = [TF, K_{\Phi}(\cdot, B)B^*E]_{\mathcal{L}(\Phi)}$$
$$= [F, K_{\Phi}(\cdot, B)E - K_{\Phi}(\cdot, 0)E]_{\mathcal{L}(\Phi)}$$
$$= E^*(F(B) - F(0)),$$

so that

$$B(TF(B)) = F(B) - F(0).$$

Since  $\mathcal{L}(\Phi) \subset \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{K})$  (see Theorem 6.4) we know that TF is a power series with coefficients on the right it follows that  $TF = R_0$ .

STEP 4: We prove (6.13).

We first note that  $\Phi$  can be written as  $\Phi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n \Phi_n$  since  $K_{\Phi}(\cdot, 0) E \in \mathcal{L}(\Phi)$  for every  $E \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$ . We note that

$$K_{\Phi}(\cdot,0) = \Phi + (\Phi(0))^* \in \mathcal{L}(\Phi)$$

and so

$$C_0 C_0^* = 2 \operatorname{Re} \Phi_0,$$

which is (6.12). Furthermore,

$$C_{0}(K(\cdot, 0)E) = (\Phi_{0} + \Phi_{0}^{*})E$$

$$C_{0}(R_{0}(K(\cdot, 0)E) = C_{0}(\Phi_{1} + Z\Phi_{2} + \cdots) = \Phi_{1}E$$

$$\vdots$$

$$C_{0}(R_{0}^{n}(K(\cdot, 0)E) = C_{0}((\Phi_{n} + Z\Phi_{n} + \cdots)E) = \Phi_{n}E$$

$$\vdots \Box$$

**Remark 6.6.** (6.13) implies that, with  $Z = zI_p$ ,

$$\Phi E = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n \Phi_n E$$
  
=  $(i \operatorname{Im} \Phi(0))E + (\operatorname{Re} \Phi_0)E + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z^n C_0 R_0^{n-1} C_0^* E$   
=  $(i \operatorname{Im} \Phi(0))E + \frac{C_0 C_0^* E}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z^n C_0 R_0^{n-1} C_0^* E$   
=  $(i \operatorname{Im} \Phi(0))E + \frac{1}{2} C_0 (I_{\mathcal{L}}(\Phi) - zR_0)^{-1} (I_{\mathcal{L}}(\Phi) + zR_0) C_0^* E.$  (6.17)

In the above expression, z is a number and  $zR_0$  means the multiplication by this number of the operator  $R_0$  acting in  $\mathcal{L}(\Phi)$ .

For papers related to this section we mention [6,16,17].

# 7. Concluding remarks

We conclude with some remarks on possible future work.

#### 7.1. Interpolation

Problem 4.1 is a special case of a much more general bitangential interpolation problem (see e.g. [27]), which can also be set in the framework of Schur multipliers. We will consider these problems in a future publication.

# 7.2. Matrix polynomials and other applications of the map (2.7)

The map (2.7) which to  $F(Z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Z^n F_n$  associates the matrix-valued function of a complex variable  $F(zI_p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n F_n$  allows further applications than the ones presented here. For instance, define F(Z) to be a matrix-polynomial (of the matrix variable Z) if only a finite number of powers of Z arise in the power series expansion of F. Then, F(Z) is a matrix polynomial if and only if  $F(zI_p)$  is a classical matrix-polynomials, and factorizations of F in factors of matrix-polynomials coincide with factorization of  $F(zI_p)$  into classical matrix-polynomials. These factorizations, and much more, have been considered in [49,54]. We plan to pursue this line of study in a future work.

## 7.3. Symmetries

We begin with a motivating example. For a general matrix  $A = (a_{jk})_{j,k=1}^h \in \mathbb{C}^{2h \times 2h}$ , define

$$A_{\varphi} = J_1 \overline{A} J_1^*, \quad \text{where} \quad J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_h \\ -I_h & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{A} = (\overline{a_{jk}})_{j,k=1}^h.$$
(7.1)

Clearly

$$(\lambda I_{2h})_{\varphi} = \overline{\lambda} I_{2h}, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$$

The proof of the following lemma is easy and will be omitted.

# Lemma 7.1. We have

$$(A_{\varphi})^* = (A^*)_{\varphi} \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{A_{\varphi}} = (\overline{A})_{\varphi} \quad \text{and}$$
 (7.2)

$$(AB)_{\varphi} = A_{\varphi}B_{\varphi} \tag{7.3}$$

and

$$A \ge 0 \implies A_{\varphi} \ge 0$$

Furthermore:

Lemma 7.2. We have

$$\sqrt{A_{\varphi}} = (\sqrt{A})_{\varphi} \tag{7.4}$$

**Proof.** We have  $A = \sqrt{A}\sqrt{A}$  and so from (7.3)

$$A_{\varphi} = (\sqrt{A})_{\varphi} (\sqrt{A})_{\varphi}$$

If  $A = A_{\varphi}$  and since  $(\sqrt{A})_{\varphi} \ge 0$  the uniqueness of the squareroot implies (7.4).  $\Box$ 

Lemma 7.3. If A is invertible, we have

$$A_{\varphi}^{-1} = (A_{\varphi})^{-1}$$

**Proof.** This follows from  $\overline{A}^{-1} = \overline{A^{-1}}$ .  $\Box$ 

Finally, a matrix A satisfies  $A = A_{\varphi}$  if and only if it is of the form

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 & A_2 \\ -\overline{A_2} & \overline{A_1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.5)

where  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  belong to  $\mathbb{C}^{h \times h}$ .

**Proposition 7.4.** Restricting A and Z in the formula (3.24) for the Blaschke factor  $U_A(Z)$ , the latter satisfies

$$(U_A(Z))_{\varphi} = U_A(Z).$$

**Proof.** This follows from (7.4), (7.3) and (7.2).

When h = 1,  $AA^*$  is a scalar matrix and we get back the classical Blaschke factor from quaternionic analysis.

Similarly, let now

$$A_{\varphi} = J_2 \overline{A} J_2^*, \quad \text{where now} \quad J_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_h \\ I_h & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.6)

Then, Lemmas 7.1 and 7.2 still hold. Furthermore, a matrix A now satisfies  $A = A_{\varphi}$  if and only if it is of the form

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 & A_2 \\ A_2 & A_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.7)

where  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  belong to  $\mathbb{C}^{h \times h}$ . When h = 1 we get back the split quaternions, and  $U_A$  will be the corresponding Blaschke factor. Even when h = 1 we get a new formula since  $AA^*$  will not be a scalar matrix.

**Remark 7.5.** Taking  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  with real values we get the real realization of elements in  $\mathbb{C}^{h \times h}$  in the first case and  $h \times h$  matrices with components hyperbolic numbers in the second case.

Definition 7.6. We call a map satisfying

$$(AB)_{\varphi} = A_{\varphi}B_{\varphi} \tag{7.8}$$

$$(A+B)_{\varphi} = A_{\varphi} + B_{\varphi} \tag{7.9}$$

$$A \ge 0 \Longrightarrow A_{\varphi} \ge 0 \tag{7.10}$$

$$(A_{\varphi})^* = (A^*)_{\varphi}$$
 (7.11)

$$(\lambda I_{2h})_{\varphi} = \overline{\lambda} I_{2h}, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}$$

$$(7.12)$$

an admissible symmetry.

For such a symmetry it follows that

$$A_{\varphi} = (\sqrt{A})_{\varphi} (\sqrt{A})_{\varphi}$$

and, when A is invertible,

$$A_{\varphi}^{-1} = (A_{\varphi})^{-1}$$

**Definition 7.7.** The ring of matrices for which  $A = A_{\varphi}$  is called the associated ring and denoted by  $\mathbb{C}_{\varphi}$ .

The various results presented here extend when we replace  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  by  $\mathbb{C}_{\varphi}$ . This setting includes quaternions, split-quaternions and corresponding matrix versions. For a related work, see [8].

## **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: there is no conflict of interests. If there are other authors, they declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Data availability

No data was used for the research described in the article.

#### Acknowledgements

It is a pleasure to thank Professor Alain Yger for very useful comments and remarks on various versions of the present paper. It is a pleasure to thank Professor Bolotnikov for numerous discussions on this paper and for allowing us to include the material presented in subsection 5.9. Daniel Alpay thanks the Foster G. and Mary McGaw Professorship in Mathematical Sciences, which supported this research, and in particular the stays of Professor Cho at Chapman University.

# References

- D. Alpay, An Advanced Complex Analysis Problem Book. Topological Vector Spaces, Functional Analysis, and Hilbert Spaces of Analytic Functions, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2015.
- [2] D. Alpay, H. Attia, S. Ben-Porat, D. Volok, Spectral factorization in the non-stationary Wiener algebra, 2003.
- [3] D. Alpay, V. Bolotnikov, Two-sided interpolation for matrix functions with entries in the Hardy space, in: Special Issue Honoring Miroslav Fiedler and Vlastimil Pták, Linear Algebra Appl. 223/224 (1995) 31–56.
- [4] D. Alpay, V. Bolotnikov, On tangential interpolation in reproducing kernel Hilbert space modules and applications, in: H. Dym, B. Fritzsche, V. Katsnelson, B. Kirstein (Eds.), Topics in Interpolation Theory, in: Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 95, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1997, pp. 37–68.
- [5] D. Alpay, V. Bolotnikov, P. Dewilde, A. Dijksma, Brune sections in the non-stationary case, in: Special Issue on Structured and Infinite Systems of Linear Equations, Linear Algebra Appl. 343/344 (2002) 389–418.
- [6] D. Alpay, V. Bolotnikov, A. Dijksma, B. Freydin, Nonstationary analogues of the Herglotz representation theorem for unbounded operators, Arch. Math. (Basel) 78 (6) (2002) 465–474.
- [7] D. Alpay, P. Cerejeiras, U. Kaehler, T. Kling, Commutators on Fock spaces, J. Math. Phys. 64 (2023) 042102.
- [8] D. Alpay, I. Cho, Certain invertible operator-block matrices induced by C\*-algebras and scaled hypercomplex numbers, Res. Math. Sci. 10 (4) (2023) 47.
- [9] D. Alpay, F. Colombo, A. de Martino, K. Diki, I. Sabadini, Complementation and de Branges Rovnyak spaces: the quaternionic case (tentative title), In preparation.
- [10] D. Alpay, F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, Schur functions and their realizations in the slice hyperholomorphic setting, Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 72 (2012) 253–289.
- [11] D. Alpay, F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, Krein-Langer factorization and related topics in the slice hyperholomorphic setting, J. Geom. Anal. 24 (2) (2014) 843–872.
- [12] D. Alpay, F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, Schur analysis in the quaternionic setting: the Fueter regular and the slice regular case, in: Operator Theory, Springer, Basel, 2015, pp. 1745–1786, With 51 Figures and 2 Tables. In 2 Volumes.
- [13] D. Alpay, F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, Slice Hyperholomorphic Schur Analysis, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 256, Birkhäuser/Springer, Basel, 2016.
- [14] D. Alpay, P. Dewilde, Time-varying signal approximation and estimation, in: M.A. Kaashoek, J.H. van Schuppen, A.C.M. Ran (Eds.), Signal Processing, Scattering and Operator Theory, and Numerical Methods, Amsterdam, 1989, in: Progress in Systems and Control Theory, vol. 5, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990, pp. 1–22.
- [15] D. Alpay, P. Dewilde, H. Dym, Lossless inverse scattering and reproducing kernels for upper triangular operators, in: I. Gohberg (Ed.), Extension and Interpolation of Linear Operators and Matrix Functions, in: Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., vol. 47, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1990, pp. 61–135.

- [16] D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, Y. Peretz, Nonstationary analogs of the Herglotz representation theorem: the discrete case, J. Funct. Anal. 166 (1) (1999) 85–129.
- [17] D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, Y. Peretz, Nonstationary analogs of the Herglotz representation theorem: realizations centered at an arbitrary point, in: Recent Advances in Operator Theory, Groningen, 1998, in: Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., vol. 124, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001, pp. 63–87.
- [18] D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, J. Rovnyak, H. de Snoo, Schur Functions, Operator Colligations, and Reproducing Kernel Pontryagin Spaces, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 96, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1997.
- [19] D. Alpay, H. Dym, On applications of reproducing kernel spaces to the Schur algorithm and rational J-unitary factorization, in: I. Gohberg (Ed.), I. Schur Methods in Operator Theory and Signal Processing, in: Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 18, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1986, pp. 89–159.
- [20] D. Alpay, I. Gohberg, Unitary rational matrix functions, in: I. Gohberg (Ed.), Topics in Interpolation Theory of Rational Matrix-Valued Functions, in: Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 33, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1988, pp. 175–222.
- [21] D. Alpay, M. Luna-Elizarrarás, M. Shapiro, D.C. Struppa, Gleason problem, rational functions and spaces of regular functions: the split-quaternion case, Isr. J. Math. 226 (2018) 319–349.
- [22] D. Alpay, Y. Peretz, Realizations for Schur upper triangular operators, in: A. Dijksma, I. Gohberg, M.A. Kaashoek, R. Mennicken (Eds.), Contributions to Operator Theory in Spaces with an Indefinite Metric, in: Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 106, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1998, pp. 37–90.
- [23] D. Alpay, Y. Peretz, Realizations for Schur upper triangular operators centered at an arbitrary point, Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 37 (3) (2000) 251–323.
- [24] D. Alpay, M. Shapiro, D. Volok, Reproducing kernel spaces of series of Fueter polynomials, in: Operator Theory in Krein Spaces and Nonlinear Eigenvalue Problems, in: Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., vol. 162, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2006, pp. 19–45.
- [25] D. Alpay, O. Timoshenko, D. Volok, Carathéodory functions in the Banach space setting, Linear Algebra Appl. 425 (2007) 700–713.
- [26] N. Aronszajn, Theory of reproducing kernels, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 68 (1950) 337-404.
- [27] J.A. Ball, I. Gohberg, L. Rodman, Interpolation of Rational Matrix Functions, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 45, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1990.
- [28] V. Bargmann, On a Hilbert space of analytic functions and an associated integral transform, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 14 (1961) 187–214.
- [29] H. Bart, I. Gohberg, M.A. Kaashoek, A.C.M. Ran, Factorization of matrix and operator functions: the state space method, in: Linear Operators and Linear Systems, in: Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 178, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2008.
- [30] S. Bochner, K. Chandrasekharan, Fourier Transforms, Princeton University Press, 1949, Reprinted with permission of the original publishers Kraus Reprint Corporation, New-York, 1965.
- [31] L. de Branges, Complementation in Kreĭn spaces, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 305 (1988) 277–291.
- [32] L. de Branges, J. Rovnyak, Canonical models in quantum scattering theory, in: C. Wilcox (Ed.), Perturbation Theory and Its Applications in Quantum Mechanics, Wiley, New York, 1966, pp. 295–392.
- [33] L. de Branges, J. Rovnyak, Square Summable Power Series, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York, 1966.
- [34] M.S. Brodskiĭ, Triangular and Jordan Representations of Linear Operators, Translated from the Russian by J.M. Danskin, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 32, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1971.
- [35] F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, D.C. Struppa, Noncommutative functional calculus, in: Theory and Applications of Slice Hyperholomorphic Functions, in: Progress in Mathematics, vol. 289, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011.
- [36] L. de Branges, Hilbert Spaces of Entire Functions, Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1968.
- [37] E. Deprettere, P. Dewilde, The Generalized Schur Algorithm, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 29, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1988, pp. 97–115.
- [38] P. Dewilde, H. Dym, Interpolation for upper triangular operators, in: I. Gohberg (Ed.), Time– Variant Systems and Interpolation, in: Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., vol. 56, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1992, pp. 153–260.
- [39] W.F. Donoghue, Monotone Matrix Functions and Analytic Continuation, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissennschaften, vol. 207, Springer-Verlag, 1974.
- [40] H. Dym, J-contractive matrix functions, reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces and interpolation, Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC, 1989.

- [41] P.A. Fillmore, J.P. Williams, On operator ranges, Adv. Math. 7 (1971) 254–281.
- [42] M. Fliess, Matrices de Hankel, J. Math. Pures Appl. 9 (53) (1974) 197-222.
- [43] I. Frenkel, M. Libine, Split quaternionic analysis and separation of the series for  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  and  $SL(2,\mathbb{C})/SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ , Adv. Math. 228 (2) (2011) 678–763.
- [44] E. Fricain, J. Mashreghi, The Theory of  $\mathcal{H}(b)$  Spaces, New Mathematical Monographs, vol. 1, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2016.
- [45] E. Fricain, J. Mashreghi, The Theory of  $\mathcal{H}(b)$  Spaces, New Mathematical Monographs, vol. 2, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2016.
- [46] B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein (Eds.), Ausgewählte Arbeiten zu den Ursprüngen der Schur-Analysis, Teubner-Archiv zur Mathematik, vol. 16, B.G. Teubner Verlagsgesellschaft, Stuttgart-Leipzig, 1991.
- [47] R. Godement, Les fonctions de type positif et la théorie des groupes, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 63 (1948) 1–84.
- [48] R. Godement, Cours d'algèbre, Hermann, 1987.
- [49] I. Gohberg, P. Lancaster, L. Rodman, Invariant Subspaces of Matrices with Applications, Can. Math. Soc. Ser. Monogr. Adv. Texts, John Wiley, New York, NY, 1986.
- [50] J. Górniak, A. Weron, Aronszajn-Kolmogorov type theorems for positive definite kernels in locally convex spaces, Stud. Math. 69 (3) (1980–1981) 235–246.
- [51] G. Herglotz, Über Potenzenreihen mit positiven reelle Teil im Einheitskreis, Sitzungsber. Sächs. Akad. Wiss. Leipz., Math. 63 (1911) 501–511.
- [52] M. Libine, An invitation to split quaternionic analysis, in: Hypercomplex Analysis and Applications, in: Trends Math., Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011, pp. 161–180.
- [53] Ø. Ore, Theory of non-commutative polynomials, Ann. Math. (2) 34 (1933) 480–508.
- [54] L. Rodman, An Introduction to Operator Polynomials, Oper. Theory: Adv. Appl., vol. 38, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1989.
- [55] D. Sarason, Sub-Hardy Hilbert Spaces in the Unit Disk, University of Arkansas Lecture Notes in the Mathematical Sciences, vol. 10, Wiley, New York, 1994.
- [56] F. Sommen, A product and an exponential function in hypercomplex function theory, Appl. Anal. 12 (1) (1981) 13–26.